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On behalf of the Council and Staff of the 
Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-
the-Lake, it is our pleasure to present the 
2020 Annual Report. 

Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of Canada’s 
most historic and picturesque towns. 
Established as a settlement for United 
Empire Loyalists in 1781, the Town was 
incorporated and became the first capital 
of Upper Canada in 1792. Today, it is the 
only municipality in Canada whose Head 
of Council bears the title of Lord Mayor. 
While we are home to approximately 
18,000 permanent residents, we also 
welcome millions of visitors to our 

community each year. Residents and visitors alike enjoy our Town’s natural beauty, heritage landmarks, 
and local amenities, including some of the finest vineyards, orchards, and greenhouses in Canada, the 
world-famous Shaw Festival Theatre, cultural events, internationally acclaimed wineries, and four-star 
dining and visitor accommodations. 

2020 was a year of unprecedented challenges due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and a year of exceptional 
teamwork and collaboration as Staff stepped up to respond and adapt to rapid changes rolled out by 
the Province and Regional Public Health Department. Despite a global pandemic and prolonged State of 
Emergency, we saw some incredible successes. Our main focuses included: 

1. COVID-19: Maintaining compliance, providing public education, increasing communication efforts, and 
executing enforcement;

2. Online Service Delivery: Transitioning to a primarily online service model, including adapting 
Committee, Council, and public meetings to a virtual format; and,

3. Service Delivery Review: Completing the Service Delivery Review, analyzing the results and 
formulating recommendations and a strategy to improve service delivery. 

The Town also welcomed new Chief Administrative Officer Marnie Cluckie in December of 2020, and we 
look forward to her leadership. 

Together, we would like to acknowledge and thank residents and businesses for their cooperation and 
compliance during this ongoing pandemic and applaud Staff for its collective commitment to maintaining 
service excellence. 

Sheldon Randall
Interim CAO

GREETINGS FROM
LORD MAYOR & INTERIM CHIEF 
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

Betty Disero
Lord Mayor
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WELCOME 
MARNIE CLUCKIE

“I am thrilled to join the Niagara-on-the-Lake 
staff and Council and build upon the great 
accomplishments of this very talented team.”

Marnie Cluckie, CAO, started December 9, 2020
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Betty Disero
Lord Mayor

Gary Burroughs
Councillor

Norm Arsenault
Councillor

Clare Cameron
Councillor/ Deputy Lord Mayor

Allan Bisback
Councillor

Wendy Cheropita
Councillor

LORD MAYOR & 
COUNCIL MEMBERS

Sandra O’Connor
Councillor

Erwin Wiens
Councillor

John Wiens
Councillor



82020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

CORPORATE 
MISSION
At your service – providing outstanding support, 
friendly assistance and effectively delivered 
services to our residents and businesses 
throughout Niagara-on-the-Lake.

CORPORATE 
VISION
Working together to maintain our heritage, 
agriculture and distinct beauty while creating 
vibrant sustainable communities for all.

CORPORATE 
PILLARS
Protect Distinctive Community Assets

Deliver Smart Balanced Growth

Create a Culture of Customer Service Excellence

Excel in a Positive Workplace

Strengthen 2-way Communications
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Niagara-on-the-Lake is one of twelve municipalities within the Niagara Region. Prior to the creation of the 
Regional Municipality of Niagara in 1970, the area was composed of the former Town and Townships of 
Niagara. The Town is represented by a Lord Mayor and eight Councillors.

Niagara-on-the-Lake holds the distinction of being the first capital of Upper Canada from 1792-1796 when 
it was known as Newark.

The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) is appointed by Town Council to oversee the management and 
operation of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake. As the Town manager, the CAO advises 
Council on all municipal programs and services and is accountable to Council for all operations of the 
Corporation.

LEGISLATIVE  
AUTHORITY
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Sheldon Randall
Interim Chief Administrative Officer 

Nick Ruller
Fire Chief

Craig Larmour
Director, Community & Development 

Services

Kevin Turcotte
Acting Director, Operations

Kyle Freeborn
Director, Corporate Services

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
TEAM
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ORGANIZATIONAL
CHART

Community Engagement 
 

Human Resources 

Lord Mayor & Council
Lord Mayor Disero, Councillors Arsenault, Bisback, Burroughs, 

Cameron, Cheropita, O’Connor, E. Wiens, J. Wiens

Acting Chief 
Administrative Officer

Sheldon Randall

CAO’s Office 

Corporate Services

Director 
Kyle Freeborn

Operations 

Director (A) 
Kevin Turcotte

Community & 
Development Services 

Director 
Craig Larmour

Fire & Emergency 
Services 
Fire Chief 
Nick Ruller

Office of the Town Clerk 
 

Information Technology 
 

Finance & Taxation 

Parks & Recreation

Public Works

Building Services 
 

Parking & By-law 
Enforcement 

 
Planning Services

Community Risk 
Reduction

Operations & 
Training 
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RESPONSIBILITIES

• Chief advisor to Town Council

• Provides leadership to Town staff

• Coordinates all departments to ensure 
efficient implementation of Council policies 
and directives

• Guides the implementation of Town 
Council’s Strategic Plan

• Develops and maintains key relationships 
with other municipal, provincial and federal 
governments and organizations

Leading a team of exceptional employees, Niagara-on-the-Lake’s Interim Chief Administrative 
Officer (CAO), Sheldon Randall, serves as the most senior position of the Corporation and is 
responsible to Town Council for the effective and efficient operation of all Town programs and 
services. 

OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Community Engagement & 
Communication 
Human Resources 
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
With the onset and continuation of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the Community 
Engagement/Communications Staff increased 
efforts to ensure consistent, accurate and 
timely communication from the Town.  

Staff leveraged the Town website, Join the 
Conversation engagement site, and social 
media platforms to reach the public with written 
messages, visual tools, creative and informative 
videos, and campaigns, initiatives and giveaways 
geared to inform, engage, and unite the 
community.

2020 Events and Campaigns:

• Coffee with the Lord Mayor – This hour-
long question-answer period moved to a 
Facebook Live format due to the pandemic. 
This new format saw a great amplification of 
the event’s audience reach.  

• #LoveNOTL – In honour of Valentine’s 
Day and the “month of love,” the public 
was invited to share what they love about 
Niagara-on-the-Lake over social media. 
Those who participated were entered into 
a draw for two prizes of gift cards to local 
businesses.  

• Hey, #NOTL! – This social media campaign 
engaged our community’s bookworms, pet 
owners, foodies, gardeners, fitness gurus, 
book lovers, DIYers, music buffs, streaming 
experts, cleaners and organizers, to share 
their stories and experiences at a time when 
everyone was first adjusting to staying home 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

• #StayHomeNOTL – Residents, businesses 
and organizations were encouraged to 
help spread the message of staying home 
by creating and posting #StayHomeNOTL 
signs in their windows. These photos were 
shared widely over social media, inspiring 
local newspapers to put #StayHomeNOTL 
colouring pages as their centerfolds.  

• COVID-19 Community Assistance – The 
Town joined with a group of generous 
volunteers to coordinate a program whereby 
residents in need of assistance with grocery 
delivery could reach out for help.  

• Easter Chocolate Giveaway – The Town, 
in partnership with the Outlet Collection 
at Niagara, facilitated the delivery of 2,300 
chocolate bunnies donated by Rocky 
Mountain Chocolate and Lindt to Niagara-
on-the-Lake’s Volunteer Firefighters, farmers 
and migrant workers and grocery store and 
pharmacy employees.  
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

• Stay Active Niagara – This collaboration 
with the Region helped families to adapt 
to staying at home with Beat the Boredom 
Blues Bingo and an Alphabet Activity 
Checklist Challenge.  

• We Love Our Volunteers – This Volunteer 
Week campaign invited the public to 
nominate dedicated local volunteers via 
email. Every nominee was recognized with 
kind words and thanks on the Town’s social 
media accounts throughout the week.  

• Mother’s Day Giveaway – This social media 
campaign invited residents to recognize their 
mothers with kind words and, by using the 
hashtag #NOTLLOVESMOMS, entering their 
moms into a draw for a gift certificate to a 
local business of their choice.  

• Mental Health Resources – This social 
media campaign reminded the public that 
it is okay to not be okay, and directed them 
to a new page on the Town’s website that 
compiled all the available resources whereby 
a person could seek help in Niagara.  

• Light of Hope – A collaboration with Niagara 
Region and all 12 of its municipalities, this 
virtual event shone a bright light into the 
night sky of every Niagara Town, Township 
and City, uniting us as one community 
fighting this pandemic together.  

• Father’s Day – The public was invited to 
celebrate their fathers by sharing a story or 
fond memory on social media and, by using 
the hashtag #NOTLLOVESDAD, entering 
them into a draw for a gift certificate to a 
local business of their choice.  

• 2020 Grad Giveaway – With many 
graduation ceremonies cancelled or 
postponed as a result of the pandemic, the 
Town invited graduates of the class of 2020 
to enter a special giveaway via email. Winners 
were chosen at random and sent a special 
prize package including a congratulatory 
letter from the Lord Mayor.   

• Canada Day the Niagara Way – A 
collaboration with the Niagara Region and its 
12 municipalities, this series of online events 
and engagements helped the public to 
celebrate Canada Day from the safety of their 
homes.  

• Gratitude Changes Everything – Regular 
weekend social media posts encouraged the 
public to reflect on the week with gratitude 
and lead into a new day with kindness.  

• Recovery Support for Local  
Businesses – A page was launched on the 
Join the Conversation platform, compiling all 
available resources to help local businesses 
recover from the impacts of COVID-19, 
including Town programs, information 
packages, and Regional, Provincial and 
Federal Funding.  
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• Drive-Thru Tulip Bulb Sale – The annual tulip bulb sale moved to the Community Centre, to 
allow for safe physical distancing as members of the public drove up to make their purchases.  

• Business Directory – The Town launched an online business directory, inviting local 
businesses to submit their information for free inclusion. This directory was then promoted 
over social media with a targeted #ShopNOTL campaign.  

• Kids’ Halloween Giveaway – Since trick or treating was heavily impacted by COVID-19, 

OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

• Photo Contest – The Town launched its first online photo contest, accepting photo 
submissions in five categories – Amenities and places, Arts, Culture and Events, Innovation and 
Economy, Nature and Parks, and Recreation and Sports – and choosing one winner from each 
based on online voting.  
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

parents were invited to sign their children 
up to receive a free Halloween bag delivered 
to their front door. More than 700 bags 
of donated goodies were compiled and 
delivered by Staff.  

• Christmas Card Contest – Niagara-on-
the-Lake children were invited to submit 
drawings via mail or drop off in the Town 
Hall dropbox. Three submissions were 
chosen to be made into Christmas cards 
from the Lord Mayor, sent to every resident 
of our three long-term care facilities.  

• NOTL Gives Back – A 3-in-1 donation drive 
held at the Community Centre in a safe, 
physically distanced, contact-free drive-thru 
capacity, this event collected non-perishable 
food, new or gently used warm winter 
clothing, and gift donations for a variety of 
local charities and support programs.  

• Santa Around the Town – An alternative to 
the traditional Christmas parade, this scaled-
down, single-float event brought Jolly Old 
Saint Nicholas through all five Niagara-on-
the-Lake communities to wave and say hello 
to children from the safety of their front 
lawns or driveways.  

• Make Noise NOTL – With spring and winter 
iterations, this event drew locals out of their 
homes to raise their voices, honk horns, 
bang pots and pans and get loud from the 
safety of their cars, front lawns or driveways, 
to thank front-line workers for their 
commitment to keeping our community safe.  
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

• Holiday Decorating Contest – This challenge was wielded to residents and businesses, 
encouraging over-the-top holiday decorations to help make this the most magical holiday yet. 
Photos were gathered through online submissions and three winners in each community were 
chosen by online voting.  

Social Media 

• # of new followers: 

• Facebook grew by 1,821 for a total of 
4,021 followers  

• Twitter grew by 445 for a total of 8,345  

• Instagram grew by 5,606 for a total of 
7,806  

• Average # of posts per week: 20 

• Started Facebook Live Events & 
Announcements 

• Began Virtual Coffee with the Lord Mayor – 
April 7, 2020. First video received 3.3K views 
& 127 comments 

• Heritage Trail Receives Sizable Contribution – 
Facebook Live Announcement 

• NRT OnDemand Transit – Facebook Live 
Announcement 

Join the Conversation 

• New Project Pages – 24 

• Total Site Visits – 32.3K 

• New Registrations – 531 

• Top 2020 Projects – Holiday Decorating 
Contest (2.2K participants) and Photo 
Contest (1.2K participants). 

 Communication 

• Published first online-only Community 
Guide 

• Media Releases – 94 

• Messages & Town Statements – 20 

• Informative Videos – 28 

• Most viewed video: Increasing Efforts to 
Discourage Visitors – A Message from 
Acting Senior Enforcement Officer – 7K 
views 

• Creative Videos – 21 

• Most viewed video: Wear a Mask NOTL, 
a video series – 10K views
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

HUMAN RESOURCES  
Human Resources provides support and services to all level of employees. The services provided 
include recruitment, health and safety, compensation, employee and labour relations and training. 
Below are some statistics related to recruitment and health and safety. 

RECRUITMENT 
The table below summarizes the recruitment activity for 2020. This table reflects the recruitment 
efforts supported by Human Resources. The table below outlines the number of staff hired 
broken down by department:  
 
Department Full Time Contract
Administration - 1
Corporate Services 1 1
Community and Development Services - 9
Operations 2 70
Fire and Emergency Services - -

Total 3 81
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OFFICE OF THE 
CAO

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
Accidents and incidents are monitored and recorded each year. The following table summarizes 
the accidents/incidents in the following categories: 

Medical Aid – An injury/illness where the employee seeks medical attention away from the 
workplace from a healthcare professional. 

Lost Time – An absence from the workplace following a work-related injury or illness 
beyond the date of occurrence.

Incident Type Accidents/Incidents Medical Aid Lost Time
Harmful Substances/ 
Environmental 

3 3 -

Struck/Caught 5 3 2

Overexertion 5 2 3
Total 13 8 5

 
STAFF WELLNESS 
The Staff Wellness Committee continues to offer activities to staff and support the community. 
The Committee encourages staff involvement in physical activity, mental, emotional and financial 
wellness and community support. 
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES

As the Director of Corporate Services, it is my pleasure to present the department’s achievements 
and milestones for 2020. 

The Corporate Services Department is the administrative backbone of the Town. The department 
supports most day-to-day operations by processing financial transactions, answering and 
directing requests from the public, providing technical support and advice, and processing various 
applications. I am proud of our staff’s commitment and dedication to providing the best service 
possible, by utilizing the resources available. 

 I am very pleased to announce the Town received the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
again. This is the eighth consecutive year, and it is an honour to be recognized for our high-quality 
financial reporting.   

In the first quarter of 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World 
Health Organization.  This resulted in governments worldwide, including the Canadian, Ontario, 
and local municipal governments enacting emergency measures to prevent the spread of the 
virus.  The measures implemented resulted in an economic slowdown and changed many of the 
fundamental ways that businesses operated, and likely how they will continue to operate into the 
future.  The Town experienced material impacts with the closure of parks and recreation facilities 
and the administrative building, temporary reduction of contract employees in non-essential 
services, suspension of penalties and interest, and mandatory working from home requirements 
for those able to do so.  The Town regularly reviewed its financial position and made timely 
decisions around when projects should move forward or be placed on hold.  As a result, 2020 has 
closed with a small surplus that will go towards the 2021 budget.  As of the approval date of this 
Annual Report, the outcome and timeframe for a full recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic are 
not yet determined. 

 I look forward to new advancements in 2021 and am confident the Corporate Services team will 
have a strong role in fulfilling new and exciting priorities.  

 
 
 
 

Sincerely, Kyle Freeborn,  
Director of Corporate Services 

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Office of the Town Clerk  
Finance & Taxation   
Information Technology 

GREETINGS FROM THE 
DIRECTOR



212020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

CORPORATE 
SERVICES

OFFICE OF THE TOWN CLERK

• The Town processed 110 new or renewal 
Short-Term Rental licenses in 2020 for a total 
of 338 active licenses. 

• The Town processed and issued 
approximately 6 Special Event Permits. 

• The Town issued 3 Lottery/Raffle Licences. 

• The Town received and processed 27 
Freedom of Information (FOI) requests, as 
per the Municipal Freedom of Information 
and Protection of Privacy Act (MFIPPA). 

FINANCE & TAXATION

• 600 dog tags issued 

• 313 residential parking permits issued 

• 727 residents received their tax bill via email

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

• The COVID-19 pandemic presented a new 
set of challenges for everyone in 2020. 
Once lockdowns were implemented, the 
Town’s Information Technology division was 
particularly impacted as it faced a shifting 
technology landscape that required a 
majority of office staff to work remotely from 
home. 

• The transition to the majority of staff working 
from home required the quick repurposing 
of current inventories and purchasing of new 
technology and communications equipment. 
Luckily, the Town already had measures in 
place to ensure safe and secure remote 
work. Additional software was procured to 
allow the IT Division to remain connected 
and remotely support staff working both at 
home and in the office. 

• Collaborative tools and virtual meetings 
allowed the Town to continue to conduct 
business and serve its residents and 
external partners.  

• The Town’s Information Technology Division 
remains committed to adapting to the ever-
changing landscape as mandated by Public 
Health, and Provincial and Federal governing 
bodies. 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

As Director of the Community and Development Services Department, I am pleased to present 
our annual report of the department’s core services and achievements for 2020. 

Normal operations in the department were challenged with the onset of COVID-19 in the 
spring of last year. However, the lull imposed on processing planning applications and building 
permits coincided with increased activity in the By-law Division, as efforts were made to ensure 
compliance with public health related Provincial Orders/Regulations imposed by the Solicitor 
General and Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing. In addition to normal duties, department 
staff provided individual responses to more than 200 COVID-19 related complaints and 5,000 
COVID-19 related inquiries. 

Notwithstanding any pause due to COVID-19, activity in the department remained constant 
in 2020. Building Services remained lively with the issuance of 431 building permits totaling 
$106,248,050.00 in construction value. Planning Services, including the Committee of Adjustment, 
received 86 development applications. Heritage Planning remained a priority throughout the year, 
with staff attending to 25 heritage permits and issuing $17,360 in municipal grant funding to local 
residents and businesses. By-law Enforcement continued to remain vigilant, addressing more 
than 925 files and 12,063 parking infractions.  

In the midst of all the busyness of COVID-19, the Town was awarded the prestigious Prince of 
Wales Prize for sustained commitment to Heritage Conservation.  

It is with appreciation that I recognize the citizen volunteers who assist our department’s function 
by serving on the Town’s Agricultural Advisory Committee, Committee of Adjustment, Glendale 
Task Force, Municipal Heritage Committee, and Urban Design Committee. 

I am extremely proud of the work the department has accomplished this year as we navigated 
through unprecedented times and challenges, and I look forward to continuing our commitment 
to quality service throughout 2021. 

Sincerely

Craig Larmour 
Director of Community & 
Development Services

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Planning Services 
Building Services 
Parking and By-law Enforcement 
 



232020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT

The Committee of Adjustment is a quasi-
judicial body composed of members who are 
appointed by Council. The committee is guided 
by the provisions of the Official Plan and 
Zoning By-laws. The committee is authorized 
by the Ontario Planning Act to grant minor 
variances from the provisions of Zoning By-
laws, to permit extensions, enlargements, or 
variations of existing legal, non-conforming 
uses, and to hear and make decisions on 
consent applications to sever land, establish 
easements, etc. It also makes decisions on 
fence and sign variance applications and 
property standards appeals. 

In 2020, the Committee of Adjustment 
processed applications for: 

• 23 minor variances/legal non-conforming 
uses  

• 14 consent applications   

URBAN DESIGN 

Urban design refers to the design of towns and 
cities, streets and spaces. While architecture 
focuses on buildings, urban design focuses on 
the connections development has between 
people and places and the relationships 
between buildings and the spaces they create. 

All development applications are reviewed 
and commented on in accordance with the 
municipality’s urban design policies, guidelines, 
and standards. Staff is supported in this initiative 
by the Urban Design Committee. 

In 2020, the staff liaison processed:  

• 8 development applications through the 
Urban Design Committee 

• 116 reviews of development applications 
against urban design guidelines  

• 43 reviews of building permit applications 
against urban design guidelines   
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

HERITAGE 

The conservation of the Town’s cultural 
heritage remains a priority for Council. Council’s 
initiative is supported by the Municipal Heritage 
Committee. The committee reviews and 
makes recommendations to Council on permit 
applications for heritage properties, including 
alterations, removals, or demolitions. The 
committee also promotes heritage conservation 
by supporting heritage designations, heritage 
policy matters, grant application reviews, and 
recommendations. 

In 2020, the Town was recognized by the 
National Trust for Canada with the prestigious 
Prince of Wales Prize for sustained commitment 
to heritage conservation.  

Council budgeted $100,000 for a study 
to consider expanding the Queen-Picton 
Heritage Conservation District. That study is 
to commence in May 2021. Depending on the 

15284 Niagara River Parkway - The 
Field House built circa 1800 received a 
heritage grant for a new cedar roof.

findings of this study, an additional budget of 
$100,000 may be requested for an update to 
the Heritage Conservation District Plan in the 
future. Given the COVID-19 pandemic, no Special 
Heritage Council Meeting was held in 2020. 

In 2020, the Municipal Heritage Committee 
processed:  

• 25 heritage permit applications, including 5 
heritage restoration and improvement grants 
for which the Town provided $17,360 in 
funding 

In 2020, the Heritage Planner processed:  

• 116 reviews of development applications 
with respect to impacts to cultural heritage 
resources, including archaeological resources 

• 36 reviews of demolition permits with respect 
to impacts to cultural heritage resources 

223 Victoria Street, The Frey-Hindle-Appleby House built 
circa 1822 – received a grant for painting as seen here 
completed.

BEFORE AFTER
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PLANNING 
SERVICES

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Services plays a vital role in the 
management of growth and development 
within the municipality and in the protection 
of assets such as agriculture land and natural 
environment and heritage features. The 
division assists in maintaining and creating a 
high quality and sustainable community where 
people can live, work, and visit. Interest in 
development within the Town remains steady. 
Staff and committees spent considerable 
time adapting to COVID-19 requirements and 
implementing online processes to provide 
continued customer service. This included 
providing electronic meetings. Although 
COVID-19 created a pause in the processing 
of the applications for parts of the first half 
of the year, it did not impact the number of 
anticipated applications.  

Arial view of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake

In 2020, staff received: 

• 18 Zoning By-law Amendment Applications  

• 3 Official Plan Amendment Applications  

• 15 Site Plans  

• 11 Draft Plans of Subdivision/Condominium 

• 2 Part Lot Control Applications 

• 10 Niagara Escarpment Commission 
Applications  

• 71 Development Pre-Consultations  

• 80 Conformity Statements 
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

BUILDING 
SERVICES

BUILDING SERVICES

Building staff is responsible for the 
administration and enforcement of both 
Provincial and Municipal Regulations. At the 
Provincial level, the department enforces 
the Ontario Building Code to ensure all 
construction projects meet the minimum 
standards required.  

At the municipal level, the department 
enforces the municipality’s zoning 
regulations, which are designed to ensure 
that all development within the municipality 
conforms to specific guidelines. 

The department was significantly impacted 
by COVID-19 regulations, and the value of 
construction and building permit fees was 
greatly affected. 

During 2020, the following activity was 
reported in the Building Department: 

• $106,248,050 in value of construction  

• $668,424 in building permit fees  
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COMMUNITY & 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PARKING & BY-LAW 
ENFORCEMENT

PARKING ENFORCEMENT

The Parking Enforcement Officers enforce the Town’s 
Parking By-law throughout the municipality, including 
the Niagara College Campus and various private 
properties. The department is responsible for the 
general maintenance and collection of 61 Pay and 
Display machines along with approximately 60 single 
standard meters. The Parking Enforcement Officers 
take pride in their contribution to the community, 
while serving as ambassadors for visitors and 
residents. 

During 2020, officers attended to: 

• 12,063 parking tickets 

• 3,700 distribution of residential parking permits  

• 178 screenings performed under the 
Administrative Monetary Penalty System  

BY-LAW ENFORCEMENT

The Town’s By-law Enforcement Department 
continues to help maintain a safe, welcoming, 
and pleasant community for both residents and 
visitors. In addition to responding to complaints 
and conducting investigations, By-Law 
Enforcement Officers were an integral part of 
enforcing all aspects of the COVID-19 Provincial 
Regulations. 

During 2020, officers responded to: 

• 531 By-law complaints  

• 41 property standard complaints  

• 10 sign permit applications  

• 343 Urban Area Tree By-law applications 
processed 

• 200 COVID-19 related complaints  

• 52 Provincial Offences Act (POA) tickets 
issued 

• 5153 COVID-19 educational occurrences  
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On behalf of the men and women who comprise the Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & Emergency 
Services department, I am proud to present our 2020 Annual Report. The Niagara-on-the 
Lake Fire & Emergency Services’ vision is to be high-performing, progressive, and visionary in 
the provision of emergency services within our community. The exceptional teamwork that is 
displayed by our volunteer firefighters and staff has allowed for significant organizational growth 
in 2020.  

As Fire Chief, I am incredibly proud of every member of our organization, as they work tirelessly 
toward continuous personal and organizational improvement. Our firefighters faced unique 
challenges in 2020 due to our response to the evolving global pandemic. These challenges, 
although complex and lasting, proved to be insignificant when met by our committed, resilient, 
and capable firefighters.  

This report highlights many of the valuable initiatives and programs that our staff and volunteers 
contribute to daily, and presents data and information on the delivery of many of our critical 
services.  

I am appreciative of the ongoing support we receive from Lord Mayor Betty Disero, Town 
Council, and Town Staff, without which we would be unable to deliver the excellent service 
the public has come to expect. As we look forward to 2021, we are excited by the prospect of 
continued growth as we strive to continually improve.  

Sincerely, 

Nick Ruller 
Fire Chief

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Community Risk Reduction

Operations & Training 
 

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

GREETINGS FROM 
THE FIRE CHIEF
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

2020 ACHIEVEMENTS & 
ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• Completed a comprehensive values audit, to 
develop a revised department mission and 
newly created vision and core values. 

• Introduced a department-wide re-branding 
initiative. 

• Completed the Recruit Firefighter Training 
Program, resulting in 15 new Volunteer 
Firefighters deployed throughout Niagara-
on-the-Lake. 

• Placed into service a 100-foot Rosenbauer 
Cobra aerial platform fire truck, providing 
increased capabilities for aerial firefighting 
and rescue. 

• Placed a light rescue squad into service at 
Station 3, in Virgil, to increase the station’s 
available depth of response and to better 
service remote access incidents. 

• Commenced the specification and 
construction of a new Rescue Pumper for 
Station 3, in Virgil. 

• Equipped all fire apparatus with mobile 
data terminals, utilizing technology to drive 
service improvements. 

• Conducted a comprehensive Fire Master 
Plan, to provide direction to the organization 
over the next ten years. 

• Became a Registered Agency with the 
Center for Public Safety Excellence, allowing 
for the pursuit of Accreditation Agency 
status through the Commission on Fire 
Accreditation International. 

• Continued radio infrastructure upgrades, 
including installing a backup antenna site, 
vehicular range extenders, and replacing all 
mobile and portable radios with the latest 
technology. 

• Invested in personal protective equipment 
upgrades, including particulate blocking 
balaclavas, bunker gear, and replacement 
structural firefighting gloves. 

• Replaced aging vehicle extrication 
stabilization equipment with Rescue 42 
stabilizing struts on Rescue 3 and Rescue 4. 

• Replaced outdated air monitoring 
equipment with modern MSA Altair 4-gas 
detection and calibration equipment. 
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2020 FIRE DEPARTMENT RESPONSE 
STATISTICS

• Conducted 255 inspections for compliance 
with the Ontario Fire Code across Niagara-
on-the-Lake. 

• Responded to 569 emergencies, 
representing an 11% decrease compared 
to 2019. 

• Deployed 1,028 fire trucks to emergency 
incidents. 

• Performed more than 9,500 hours of 
training. 

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

• Successfully certified 48 firefighters and 
officers through the Ontario Fire Marshal’s 
Office Academic Standards and Evaluation 
Unit in various NFPA standards. 

• Inspected 100% of vulnerable occupancies 
in Niagara-on-the-Lake, including 
care occupancies, care and treatment 
occupancies, and retirement homes, to 
protect the most vulnerable residents in our 
community. 

• Reviewed 48 special event applications. 

• Executed 400 social media posts, reaching a 
total of 975,000 individuals. 
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CALL TYPES

The chart below depicts the distribution of all emergency responses Niagara-on-the-Lake Fire & 
Emergency Services responded to between 2017-2020 by type of call. 

FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES
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FIRE & EMERGENCY 
SERVICES

INCIDENTS BY STATION

The chart below depicts the number of incidents by all five (5) fire stations in Niagara-on-the-Lake. 

INCIDENTS BY STATION

The chart below depicts the total number of incidents in Niagara-on-the-Lake for the last five (5) 
years. 
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OPERATIONS

Operations’ mission, vision, and core values provide the strategic framework that guides the 
department to achieve our planned projects and work programs throughout each year. 

Our mission is to advance our community’s collective quality of life and potential through adaptive 
leadership and leading-edge service delivery. Our vision is one of a thriving, proud, diverse, and 
connected culture, featuring a rich heritage, strong values, and a timeless yet contemporary 
atmosphere. We uphold and improve our community through positive and optimistic shared core 
values of respect, listening, and ethics, with a commitment to serving through sound analysis and 
decision making. 

Personally, we are filled with gratitude for the opportunity to work alongside this unparalleled 
team of staff. They are the most skilled, resourceful, dedicated, flexible, and genuinely kind public 
sector professionals we have ever known. They bring their best every day. 

In December of 2020, we welcomed back Director of Operations Sheldon Randall, who had been 
serving as Interim CAO, and thanked Acting Director of Operations Kevin Turcotte for all of his 
hard work and guidance. 

Most importantly, we would like to thank the Town, residents, businesses, and tourists for their 
continued support. To a very large extent, the work we do reflects the values and priorities of our 
community. 

Sincerely, 

Kevin Turcotte,  
Acting Director of Operations

GREETINGS FROM 
THE DIRECTOR

THE DEPARTMENT CONSISTS OF:

Parks and Recreation 
Public Works 

Sheldon Randall,  
Director of Operations
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2020 GRANTS APPLICATIONS

• Summer Experience Program – Funding towards one (1) summer camp counselor position - 
$3,658 received 

• Kal Tire – Community Reply Grant – Applied – Grant cancelled due to COVID-19 and re-
launched for 2021 

• Participaction – Community Better Challenge Grant – Applied – Grant cancelled due to 
COVID-19 and re-launched for 2021 

The Parks and Recreation Division is responsible for the operation and maintenance of all 
Town-owned recreational facilities (i.e.  arenas, pools, a splash pad, sports fields, recreational 
complexes, Court House, Community Centre), park maintenance (25 parks, 135 acres), Queen 
Street boulevard maintenance and horticultural duties, management of cemeteries (1 operational, 
8 abandoned), and maintenance of all public washrooms and municipal properties. The Parks and 
Recreation division also produces the semi-annual Community Guide for social and recreational 
services. 

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

Ribbon cutting at the Virgil Skatepark



352020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

COMMUNITIES IN BLOOM

• Organized Christmas decoration project 

• Created Community Garden 

• Organized hydro box beautification 
program 

• Participated in the CIB program national 

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

2020 CAPITAL PROJECTS

• Community Centre Scrubber 
Replacement – Purchased new floor 
scrubbing machine for the Community 
Centre in January of 2020. 

• Virgil Skatepark – Construction of the 
Virgil Skatepark completed summer of 
2020. Grand opening ceremony held 
September 18, 2020. 

• Niagara Nursery School Expansion 
– Broke ground during fall of 2020 for 
4,000+ sq/ft nursery school addition at 
the Community Centre. 

• Organic Bins & Bottle Filling 
Station – A bottle filling station was 
installed at Market Street Washroom. 
Purchased new disposal systems at 
Town facilities that now feature organics 
in December of 2020. 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

PARKS

• Purchased battery powered, eco-friendly 
parks equipment, including leaf blowers and 
line trimmers. 

• Assisted Friends of One Mile Creek and 
NPCA with planting at King and John Streets. 

• Replaced pavers behind the Court House, 
incorporating Cornell University Structural 
Soil as a base to enable tree roots to grow 
beneath the pavers. 

• Reconstructed exterior stairs at the south 
east corner of the Court House leading to 
the Chamber of Commerce entrance. 

• Utilized a Main Street Revitalization Grant for 
the purchase of 17 additional bike racks and 
5 waste receptacles, to be installed in 2021. 

• Completed purchase and took delivery of 
new garbage truck. 

• Completed purchase and took delivery of 
new van.  

• Completed phase 1 of re-lamping of 
snowflake winter displays. 

• Installed new benches at crest of hill, 
Queen’s Royal Park. 

• Created an interactive maps park locator on 
the Town’s website.
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Community Centre closed on March 13, 2020. The facility had 
a modified reopening in the Fall of 2020. A second closure due to a Province-wide shutdown, took 
place on December 21, 2020.
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE EVENTS

The Community Centre held few in-person events this year due to pandemic: 

• Hosted Ride for Dads – Charity event for Prostate Cancer – over 300 attendees  

Drive Thru Events: 

• NOTL Flag Sale  

• Palliative Care – Shred-It Event 

• Drive-By Flue Shot Clinic 

• NOTL Gives Back Christmas Charity Event 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

COMMUNITY CENTRE PROGRAMS

March Break Camp was cancelled due to the pandemic. 

Summer Camp was modified due to the pandemic - Full week registrations only, 3 camp 
cohorts (2 x Summer Camp at Community Centre, 1 x Sports Camp at Arena), maximum of 8 
children per cohort. 

Winter Break Camp was cancelled due to the pandemic. 

Summer Camp attendance noted in chart below: 
Camp Participants (Full Week) Participants (Single Days)
Week 1 15 4
Week 2 16 7
Week 3 15 8
Week 4 16 8
Week 5 16 8
Week 6 16 7
Week 7 16 8
Week 8 16 8
Week 9 16 6
Week 10 16 4
Total 142 68
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AQUATICS

The aquatic season was modified due to the 
pandemic. 

St.Davids Pool – Closed for 2020  

Niagara Pool – No lessons, no public 
swim. Programs offered included lane swims, 
family swim, and pool rentals. 

Due to an increased demand for recreational 
activities during the pandemic, lane swims, 
family swims and pool rentals were expanded 
in 2020. The demand was overwhelming, and 
staff had to expand aquatics programming 
halfway through the summer of 2020 to meet 
the demand. 

Lane Swims – This program was the first ever 
NOTL recreation program that allowed for 
online bookings by the user. Up to 6 individuals 
could book a lane during each one-hour time 
slot.  From June 29 to September 7, a total of 
1,993 lane swims were booked (each lane swim 
was one (1) hour in length). 

OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

Family Swim – 4 time slots were allocated on 
weekends only, from July 25 to September 7 
for family swims.  A maximum of 25 registrants 
were allowed to take place in family swims 
during each allocated time slot.  A total of 628 
registrants took part in Family Swims from July 
25 to September 7. 

Pool Bookings – Starting on July 25, the Town 
allowed private rentals of the pool for groups of 
up to 25 persons.  Rentals were only available 
on weekends.  A total of 22 pool bookings were 
made from July 25 to September 7. 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

FACILITIES PROJECTS

The following projects were completed in 2020: 

• Memorial Park LED light replacement at 
soccer field 

• New lighting in Virgil Sports Park parking

• Virgil Skateboard Park 

• Memorial Park tennis court expansion 

• Glendale Park pergola repairs and paint 

• Glendale Park basketball court refurbish 

• MCU Arena parking lot paved North side 

• MCU Arena led light replacement 

FACILITIES  PROGRAMS  

• Adult Skate 

• Parents & Preschool Skate 

• Shinny Hockey 

• Stick & Puck 
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OPERATIONS PARKS & RECREATION

CEMETERY  

• 50 interments, 37 cremation interments  

• Added scattering grounds and interlock walkway  

• Planted 30 trees 

• Asphalt paved around Section I 

• Added irrigation system to Section I  

• Improved irrigation in Sections A, B, E and F  

• Added 2 mowers to fleet  

• Replaced landscape around cemetery office and front entrance  

• Pesticide ban was lifted so began IPM program for turf  
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ENGINEERING

Road Projects

• Concession 6 Road – Reconstruction of Concession 6 Road between Niagara Stone Road and 
420 metres north of Concession 6 Road. This was Phase 1 of 2 to reconstruct Concession 6 
Road between Niagara Stone Road and Line 2 Road. The work included the addition of 280 
metres of storm sewers for road drainage, replacement of the road crossing box culvert for 
the Bright’s municipal drain, addition of curb and gutters on both sides of the road, boulevard 
improvements and a new sidewalk on the east side of Concession 6 Road. The work also 
included a partial watermain replacement and extension between Niagara Stone Road and 
Line 2 Road, to provide necessary fire flows and capacity for future development in the area. 
The project began in August of 2020 and had to halt in December due to weather. Remaining 
work, such as the sidewalk installation, streetlighting improvements, landscaping restoration, 
and top coarse asphalt, are expected to be completed in the spring of 2021 once the weather 
permits resumption of construction.

The Public Works division is responsible for the design, construction, operation, and maintenance 
of the Town’s public works infrastructure, including water distribution, wastewater and storm 
water collection systems, roads, sidewalks, streetlights, transit, municipal drains, irrigation 
systems, and related easements and rights-of-way. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Reconstruction of Concession 6 Road
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Road Projects (continued)

• Gate Street – Reconstruction of Gate Street between 
Anne Street and John Street. The work included the 
addition of 135 metres of storm sewers for road/
boulevard drainage and a road widening to allow for 
traffic flow in both directions. The project began in 
June of 2020 and was completed in September of 
2020.

• Byron Street – Resurfacing 300 metres of road. 
Addison Avenue – Resurfacing 160 metres of road 
between Circle Street and Shakespeare Avenue.  

• Autumn Place – Resurfacing 60 metres of road 
between Grange Crescent and the dead end.

• Centre Street – Resurfacing 270 metres of road 
between Gate Street and Regent Street.  

• Circle Street – Resurfacing 380 metres of road. 

• Four Mile Creek Road – Resurfacing (top course) and 
addition of paved shoulders of 750 metres of road 
between Hunter Road and Wall Road. 

• Four Mile Creek Road – Resurfacing (base & top 
course) and addition of paved shoulders of 600 
metres of road between Wall Road and Lakeshore 
Road. 

• Frontier Drive – Resurfacing 100 metres of road 
between Homestead Drive and Cherry Street. 

• Grange Crescent – Resurfacing 360 metres of road.  

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Reconstruction of Gate Street

Resurfacing of Centre Street
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Road Projects (continued)

• Homestead Drive – Resurfacing 400 metres of road 
between Line 1 Road and the dead end. 

• Henegan Road – Resurfacing 295 metres of road 
between Niagara Stone Road and Walker Road. 

• King Street – Resurfacing 280 metres of road 
between John Street West and Paffard Street. 

• Luther Avenue – Resurfacing 180 metres of road 
between Circle Street and Shakespeare Avenue. 

• Pine Street – Resurfacing 100 metres of road 
between Henry Street and the dead end. 

• Walker Road – Resurfacing 370 metres of road 
between Henegan Road and the dead end.  

• Wycliffe Avenue – Resurfacing 240 metres of road 
between Circle Street and Shakespeare Avenue. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Resurfacing of Homestead Drive

Resurfacing of Walker Road
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Roads 

• Completion of shoreline stabilization 
works – The Town has been working in 
stages along the shoreline at the end of 
Riverbeach Road, to protect both properties 
and infrastructure. The shoreline work is 
complete with park drainage left to be done 
in 2021. 

• Culvert work for private driveways – Many 
building applications for new homes are 
requiring driveway entrances and many times 
a new culvert is required. 

• Road repairs – Town staff monitor the road 
network every week and either patch or 
repair sections of road which have broken 
down for various reasons. 

• Creation of Simcoe Park LID (Low Impact 
Development) – Green infrastructure has 
a significant impact on how storm water 
is handled throughout the province. This 
project, in collaboration with Federal, 
Provincial, and Regional agencies, has 
become a gold star in management 
of storm water in a park setting. The 
incorporation of this water feature is able to 
improve water quality to meet and exceed 
Ministry guidelines. This has also provided 
opportunities to offer employment to 
environmental technicians. 

• King Street area water quality 
improvements – The Town has regularly 
been involved in water quality projects, and 
the King Street area and Queen’s Royal 

Beach outlet has demonstrated the success 
of interagency collaboration to obtain a 
common goal.  The three years the Town 
spent monitoring the beach, to ensure 
it meets the objectives of the legislation, 
required much work and concluded with 
a positive outcome. Water quality beach 
guidelines identify whether the outflow 
meets the legislative requirements for three 
years in a row, which the Town did. Results 
improved every year. This site also became 
a test area for a new product which reduces 
E. coli and other containments to a 90% 
efficiency goal. 

• Tree Maintenance – The Town has a tree 
management program that addresses 
many problems in our aging canopies.  
For the health of the trees, the Town has 
contractors who perform tree trimming, 
removals when required, and tree health 
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Watermains  Projects

• Anne Street – Replacement of 135 metres 
of ductile iron mains between Regent Street 
and King Street. 

• John Street West – Replacement of 160 
metres of asbestos cement mains between 
Regent Street and King Street.  

• Niagara River Parkway  
(Service Road 50) – Replacement of 
320 metres of cast iron mains between 
Highlander Street and dead end. 

• Paxton Lane – Replacement of 65 metres of 
cast iron mains between Highlander Street 
and dead end. Resurfacing of the road was 
also included in this project.  

• Queenston Road – Replacement of 825 
metres of asbestos cement mains between 
Airport Road and Coon Road.  

• Wellington Street – Replacement of 300 
metres of asbestos cement mains between 
Picton Street and Castlereagh Street. 
Resurfacing of the road was also included 
in this project and will be completed in the 
spring of 2021. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Replacement of watermains on Niagara River 
Parkway

Replacement of watermains on Wellington 
Street
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Sanitary Sewers Projects

• Froebel Avenue – Replacement of 73 metres of asbestos cement sanitary sewer and laterals 
between Circle Street and the dead end. Resurfacing of the road was also included in this 
project. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS

Street Lights

• Conversion of 598 metal-halide and 
high-pressure sodium decorative post 
top street lights to LED throughout the 
Town. The conversion began in October 
of 2020 and was completed in December 
2020. The partnership with Real Term 
Energy allowed the Town to fast track the 
conversion program. Benefits of installing 
the LED street lights will realize significant 
energy efficiency and cost savings, reduced 
maintenance, improved lighting quality, and 
greater roadway safety for both vehicles 
and pedestrians. The switch to LED will 
also see carbon emissions decrease by 
approximately 151 metric tons annually.

Trails and Sidewalks Project

• Lorraine Street - Installation of a new 
sidewalk on the north side between Four 
Mile Creek Road and 110 metres to the east.

Studies 

• 2019 Structures Inspection Program 
Rehabilitation/Replacement Needs 
Study – Inspections CSO Old Town Study 
(Phase 4 – Dorchester North & William 
Street East Drainage Area) – Sanitary sewer 
inflow/infiltration investigation report and 
rehabilitation plan to address identified 
deficiencies. 

• 2020 State of the Infrastructure and 
Asset Management Plan – Updated the 
condition data on the roads, added and 

revised sections to reflect changes and 
additions to the road system, updated 
costing and analysis of the entire road system 
and the development of a phased capital and 
operating works plan.  

• 2020 Water Distribution System Study 
and Model Update – A review of the Town’s 
water distribution system model. Hydraulic 
analysis using the model to determine the 
system’s performance under various demand 
scenarios and the development of a phased 
capital works plan. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Drinking Water Quality Management System (DWQMS) 

In 2020, the Annual Drinking Water Reports for both of the Town’s systems were submitted and 
posted to the Town’s website, as required. The Annual Summary Report was also completed and 
submitted to Council. For both of the Town’s drinking water systems, applications were completed 
and submitted with all required documentation and records for renewal of the Drinking Water 
System Licenses and Drinking Water Works Permits. These licenses and permits were received on 
March 13, 2020, and are valid for a period of five years. 

Mandatory audits were completed in 2020 by SAI Global (the accreditation body) for the external 
audit and by Acclaims Environmental Inc. for the internal audit. The annual system inspections 
were completed by the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks (MECP), and all 
DWQMS documents and records are up to date and in compliance with all the regulations. The 
annual infrastructure and risk assessments were reviewed, and the annual management review 
meeting was conducted on December 16, 2020. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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Fire Hydrants 

The Town spent extensive time and manpower 
making sure all Town-owned and privately 
owned fire hydrants were inspected, flow 
tested, and properly colour coded to inform 
the Fire & Emergency Services Department of 
the volume of all hydrants. The Town replaced 
3 hydrants in 2020 and is looking to replace 
6 in 2021. The new hydrants have updated 
firefighting capacity with front Storz ports, and 
have started to phase out or replace the old 
2-side port Darling hydrants. 

Water Meters 

The Town is working to upgrade/replace the water 
meters in large water users that are coming to the 
end of their life span, to better account for water 
usage. This, in turn, helps with the Town’s water loss 
program. 

Water Sample Stations 

The Town has added 3 more sample stations to the 
distribution system for a greater degree of water 
sampling and monitoring, to make sure the water 
distribution system remains one of the best.  

Dead End Flushing  

The Town instituted a dead-end flushing program, 
to make sure fresh water is available at all locations 
in the Town. This, in turn, helps the overall quality of 
the Town’s drinking water. 

Flushing Sanitary Mains 

The Town is identifying areas that are prone to 
issues and slow moving, and is having them flushed 
on a more consistent basis to make sure the system 
stays moving and fresh. 

OPERATIONS PUBLIC WORKS
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2020 BY THE NUMBERS

1 Seed library
1 Additional community garden
1 Author visit

37 Adult programs (virtual) 
227 Children’s programs (virtual) 
505 New memberships 

3,747 Program participants
8,823 Card holders 

47,622 Items borrowed

262,340 Visits (in-person and online)

The Niagara-on-the-Lake (NOTL) Public Library is a space for everyone, where we strive to provide 
educational, cultural, recreational, and social opportunities to all members of the community. 
The Library is comprised of a team of professional staff and community volunteers committed to 
enriching the community by providing access to the world’s ideas and information. 

The NOTL Public Library is an important community hub, proactively encouraging community 
connectivity and creative thinking through its quality, future-focused library services. 

Under the Ontario Public Libraries Act, the NOTL Public Library Board is appointed by Town 
Council and responsible for library governance. The Town funds 94% of the library’s budget with 
the balance funded by the Ontario Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport and by donations, fees, 
program revenue, grants, and book sale proceeds. 

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY
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PUBLIC  
LIBRARY

MATERIALS

• Daisy collection (digital talking books) for 
those who have a print disability 

• Large collection of print material (books, 
magazines, newspapers) 

• Live, learn jazz collection 
• Extensive e-book collection  
• Audiobook collection  
• DVDs 
• Local history material (digital and micro-

form)  
• Online databases 
• Coding devices/toys 
• Playaways and launchpads   

RENTALS (PRE-COVID-19)

• Rotary Room, which seats 40 and includes 
access to a kitchenette 

• Small meeting room (The Lab), which seats 
up to 10 people   



542020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

SERVICES

• Curbside pick-up 

• 24/7 dropbox 

• Interlibrary loans 

• Homebound delivery to private residences 

• Borrowing privileges at Niagara Falls, 
Welland, Fort Erie, Pelham, Thorold, West 
Lincoln, Grimsby, and Port Colborne Public 
Libraries, plus Niagara College Libraries 

• Free wireless internet 

• Public computer access 

• 16 laptops for public use 

• Printing, photocopying, scanning, and fax 
services 

• Collection of online databases 

• Socially distanced study spaces 

• Smart locker pick up and delivery service 
available in St. Davids  

• 3D printing 

• Embroidery machine 

• VHS to DVD conversion 

• Wood carving machinery 

• Cricut cutting machine  

• Seed library 

• Labyrinth 

PROGRAMS

• Weekly virtual programs for infants to 
preschoolers 

• Virtual seasonal crafts for children 

• Virtual and in-person (when allowed) 
Minecraft club 

• Virtual March Break and summer children’s 
programs  

• In-person (when allowed) knitting club 

• Virtual and in-person (when allowed) tech 
tutoring and adult computer classes 

• Virtual Nobel Prize series 

• Virtual science series 

• Virtual book club 

• Wine and Words author series (pre-
COVID19) 

• Genealogy workshops (pre-COVID19) 

PUBLIC  
LIBRARY



FINANCIAL REPORT
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The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake is pleased to present its Financial Report for the 2020 year. This 
report has been prepared by management in accordance with the Municipal Act and based on 
the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) as recommended by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of Chartered Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada. The Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) serves the public interest by establishing standards and guidance 
for financial reporting by all Canadian entities in the public sector and by contributing to the 
development of internationally accepted public sector financial reporting standards. 

The Financial Report communicates to stakeholders and residents the Town’s 2020 financial 
performance and provides information regarding significant financial policies and processes. The 
2020 financial results continue to demonstrate Niagara-on-the-Lake’s commitment to financial 
excellence.  

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake and the Niagara Region provide municipal services to Niagara-
on-the-Lake taxpayers. The Niagara Region is exclusively responsible for garbage collection and 
disposal, water treatment, waste water services, policing, and social services. The Town of Niagara-
on-the-Lake’s financial statements do not include the cost of Niagara Region services.  

Niagara-on-the-Lake’s property tax bill includes levies for the Town, the Niagara Region, the 
Province of Ontario (for education purposes), and the Niagara Health System. The Town’s 2020 
levy impact on a typical residential property was approximately 22% of the total property tax bill.  

With each budget cycle, Council and staff carefully review all services areas to improve efficiency 
and value for taxpayers. As a result of this review, the Town was able to limit its property tax bill 
increase to approximately 1.86% on the Town’s portion of the tax bill without compromising 
services. The increase in the total tax bill including the Town, Niagara Region, Education, and 
Niagara Health System was approximately 6.01%.  

The global COVID-19 pandemic played a significant role in how the Town operated during 
2020, resulting in material impacts to many areas of the Town’s budget.  These include reduced 
revenues due to various facility closures and recreational programming, parking closures and 
reduced visitors, and increased expenses for personal protective equipment and equipping 
the Town’s workforce to work remotely. The Town received support from different levels of 
government, including $526,000 for general COVID pressures and $36,000 for the Town’s transit 
system made available through the Safe Restart Agreement.  In partnership with Fed-Dev Ontario 
and the Niagara-on-the-Lake Chamber of Commerce, the Town delivered a $500,000 COVID 

MESSAGE FROM  
THE TREASURER



572020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

Tourism recovery program that provided up to $20,000 for local tourism-based businesses to 
adapt and continue to operate amidst challenging economic conditions.  Recovery appears to be 
on the horizon, and while the world slowly returns to normal, the impacts of the pandemic will be 
felt for many years to come. 

While the Town continues to grow, staff must be mindful of spending and that can be challenging 
for a growing town like Niagara-on-the-Lake. With the use of policies, priorities, and strategic 
plans, Council has established a roadmap for Niagara-on-the-Lake’s continued and future success. 

Kyle Freeborn, CPA, CMA 
Director of Corporate Services / Treasurer 
June 30, 2021 

MESSAGE FROM  
THE TREASURER
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Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Canadian 
Award for Financial Reporting to the Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake for its annual 
financial report for the fiscal year ended  December 31, 2019. The Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
program was established to encourage municipal governments throughout Canada to publish high quality 
financial reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing these 
reports.

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish an 
easily readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, whose contents conform to program 
standards. Such reports should go beyond the minimum requirements of generally accepted accounting 
principles and demonstrate an effort to clearly communicate the municipal government’s financial picture, 
enhance an understanding of financial reporting by municipal governments, and address user needs.

A Canadian Award for Financial Reporting is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current 
report continues to conform to the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting program requirements, and we 
are (will be) submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another award.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
PROCESSES

Internal Control Management

Management maintains a system of internal 
and administrative controls which are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are properly authorized, that 
assets are accounted for and safeguarded, 
and that financial information is relevant and 
reliable.  

External Audit

The role of the external auditor, KPMG LLP, 
is to present an independent opinion on 
the fair presentation of the Town’s financial 
position and operating results, confirming 
that the statements are free from material 
misstatements. It is the responsibility of 
the auditor to advise management and the 
Finance Advisory Committee of any control or 
operational issues that have been identified 
during the course of the audit.

Financial Statement Preparation

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake management 
is responsible for all information contained 
in the annual Financial Report. The financial 
statements and accompanying notes have been 
prepared using reasonable limits of materiality 
and within the framework of the accounting 
principles and disclosure requirements of the 
CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Standards.  

Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit and Finance Committee (previously 
Finance Advisory Committee) is newly formed 
and composed of 5 Council members and 
various staff members. The Chair and Vice 
Chair are appointed annually by Council. As the 
successor to the Finance Advisory Committee 
initiating in 2015, The Audit and Finance 
Committee was established in 2019 to monitor 
the full accounting cycle, from budget guidance 
through to the finalization of the fiscal year via 
oversight of the external audit function. 



602020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   |

2019 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT OVERVIEW

The Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Municipal Act and based on the reporting standards set by the Chartered 
Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).  

There are four required schedules to form the consolidated financial statements:  

• Statement of financial position 

• Statement of operations 

• Statement of change in net financial assets 

• Statement of cash flows 

Together these consolidated financial statements provide information on the cost of Town 
activities, how they were financed, and the assets and liabilities of the Town. The information 
reflects the full nature and extent of the Town’s financial affairs similar to a private sector financial 
statement presentation.  

The following is a high-level overview of the 2020 financial results for the Town.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

The consolidated statement of financial 
position highlights four key indicators that 
taken together describe the financial position 
of the Town:

1. cash resources

2. net financial position calculated as the 
difference between financial assets and 
financial liabilities

3. non-financial assets that are normally 
employed for providing services such as 
tangible capital assets

4. accumulated surplus

The Town continues to manage its day-to-
day finances on a cash basis using fund 
accounting but reports in accordance with 
PSAB. Fund balances are no longer reported 
in the consolidated financial statements and 
have been replaced by accumulated surplus. 
The accumulated surplus summarizes the 
Town’s consolidated equity which identifies 
the financial position, including tangible capital 
assets, and financial resources of the Town.  

Financial Assets

Financial assets in 2020 were $56 million (2019 
- $56.9 million), a $0.9 million decrease over 
the prior year.  This is mostly due to a decrease 
in cash balances from operating expenses 
and the corresponding payment of Town 
payables, as well as a decrease in Hydro note 
receivables as payments through the period 
have occurred. Healthy increases in Taxes and 
Accounts Receivables, along with the long-term 
investment in hydro, helped offset a larger net 
decrease. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Liabilities

Liabilities in 2020 were $29.8 million (2019 - $30.1 million), a decrease of $0.3 million. The 
decrease is mostly associated with a large decrease in deferred revenues, and smaller decrease 
in Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities. Deferred revenue are payments received in advance 
for services or goods not yet delivered.  In the Town’s case, a large portion of this is made up of 
Development Charge Funds for growth related infrastructure and services. Since there was a large 
decrease from 2019 to 2020, this means that more deferred revenue was recognized during 2020 
relative to collections. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-Financial Assets

The largest component of non-financial assets is the Town’s investment in tangible capital assets. 
All Town assets at the end of 2020 have been inventoried, valued, and recorded in an asset 
registry for accounting and reporting purposes. These assets are used to deliver programs and 
services to Town residents, businesses, and visitors. 

The net book value of tangible capital assets is $196 million (2019 - $190.4 million).  Historical 
costs are $285.8 million (2019 - $275.2 million) and total accumulated amortization was $89.7 
million (2019 - $84.8 million), implying that on average 31.40% (2019 – 30.80%) of the estimated 
useful life of Town assets have been utilized in the delivery of services. Amortization can be useful 
to estimate future capital spending requirements with the understanding that asset replacement 
costs may be significantly higher than historical costs. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Accumulated Surplus

The Town’s accumulated surplus is composed of investments in tangible capital assets, reserve 
and reserve funds, and net equity in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. which is offset by unfunded 
and long-term liabilities.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

The consolidated statement of operations 
reports the annual surplus from operations 
during the accounting period. The statement 
shows the cost of providing Town services, 
the revenue recognized in the period and the 
difference between them.  

Revenues

Revenues in 2020 were $40.0 million (2019 
- $39.1 million), an increase of $0.9 million 
over the prior year. This increase is due to 
higher revenues from taxation, grant revenues 

(Provincial), deferred revenues earned, 
interest and penalty income, donations and 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. net income, 
which are offset slightly by decreases in user 
fees, Federal grants, investment income, and 
contributed assets.  

Taxation revenues, which accounts for 
property taxes and taxation from other 
governments, was $14.3 million (2019 - $13.2 
million), an increase of $1.1 million over the 
prior year.  

• Assessment growth for the Town of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake was 1.52% over the 
prior year.  

• Town Council approved a 2020 total budget 
increase of 10.14%. Overall, including 
the Town, Niagara Region, the Province 
of Ontario (for education purposes), and 
the Niagara Health System the typical 
residential property experienced a 6.01% 
increase on their property tax bill.  The 
Town’s Portion amounted to 1.86%. 

• Tax revenue breakdown by major tax 
category is 95% General Levy, 3% Special 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS

Expenses

Expenses in 2020 were $35.1 million 
(2019 - $34.8 million), an increase of 
$0.3 million over the prior year. General 
Government saw the largest increase 
(in dollars), mainly driven by materials, 
supplies, and contracted services, while 
Transportation and Recreation were the 
only functions experiencing a decrease 
in expenses mainly driven by contracted 
services, salaries/wages, and materials 
and supplies. The remaining functional 
areas experienced increased expenses 
across the board.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS   

The consolidated statement of change in net financial assets starts with the annual surplus and 
identifies changes in non-financial assets. This includes tangible capital asset acquisition and 
amortization that will utilize or add to the surplus amount to derive a net change in financial 
assets.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

The consolidated statement of cash flows 
reports changes in cash resulting from 
operations and shows how the Town 
financed its activities during the year and 
met its cash requirements.  

Reserves and Reserve Funds Overview

Although reserves and reserve funds 
are not formally reported directly in the 
financial statements, they are critical to 
financial management. Reserves and 
reserve fund balances form part of the 
accumulated surplus. Refer to note #7 in 
the financial statements for more reserve 
and reserve fund information.  

Reserves and reserve funds are established 
by Council. These funds are set aside to 
fund capital projects and future obligations. 
They are drawn upon to finance specific 
initiatives as designated by Council to 
minimize tax rate fluctuations due to 
unanticipated expenditures, revenue 
shortfalls, and ongoing programs.  

Reserve and reserve fund balances at 
the end of 2020 totalled $13.7 million 
($13.3 million in 2019), an increase 
of $400,000 from the prior year. The 
reserve and reserve fund totals do not 
include development charges or unspent 
government grants as these amounts 
are recorded as deferred revenue on the 
Statement of Financial Position. Refer to 
note #4 in the financial statements for 
more deferred revenue information.   
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of  

The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of The Corporation of Niagara-on-the-Lake 
(the “Entity”), which comprise:  

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020; 

 the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then 
 ended; 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 

 and notes and schedule to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of  significant accounting policies  

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2020 and 
its consolidated results of operations, and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Other Matter – Supplementary Information 

The supplementary information included in Schedule of Library Fund Activities does 
not form part of the financial statements. We have not audited or reviewed this 
supplementary information and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a review 
conclusion or any other form of assurance on this supplementary information. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity‘s financial 
reporting process.  

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
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 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal 
control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 
of the entities or business activities within the Group Entity to express an 
opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
or our audit opinion. 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 

June 21, 2021 

2020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 72



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019 

1 

2020 2019

Financial assets 
Cash $ 20,520,786 $ 22,734,227
Taxes receivable 

Current year 1,643,389 1,494,345 
Previous years 916,761 829,178 

Accounts receivable 5,135,172 4,563,355 
Debt recoverable from others (note 6) 25,049 29,847 
Note receivable (note 3) 5,929,872 6,674,812 
Long-term investment (note 2) 21,823,531 20,564,632 

55,994,560 56,890,396 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,776,954 10,958,524
Deferred revenue (note 4)  12,736,571  14,176,482 
Post-employment benefits (note 5) 1,225,860 1,147,868 
Net long term liabilities (note 6) 5,091,440 3,795,291 

29,830,825 30,078,165

Net financial assets 26,163,735 26,812,231

Non-financial assets 

   Tangible capital assets (note 13) 196,048,540 190,447,038 
Inventories and prepaid expenses 281,635 330,669 

196,330,175 190,777,707 
Commitments (note 8) 
Contingent liabilities (note 9) 
Impact of COVID-19 (note 16) 

Accumulated surplus (note 7) $ 222,493,910 $ 217,589,938 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Signed on behalf of the Municipality: 

Lord Mayor 

Chief Administrative Officer 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
Consolidated Statement of Operations  

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019 

2 

Budget 2020 2019 

(note 12) 
Revenues 

Taxation  $ 14,211,300 $ 14,333,245 $ 13,175,952 
User fees and charges 14,278,757 14,938,554 15,595,968 
Government of Canada grants (note 14) 539,220 424,072 1,046,981 
Province of Ontario grants (note 14) 1,395,336 2,388,747 1,572,233 
Other municipality funding (note 14) 45,000 227,060 239,105 
Deferred revenues earned 1,741,623 2,819,365 2,181,272 
Interest and penalties 330,000 485,387 378,259 
Investment income 532,437 479,241 674,892 
Donations 24,000 551,871 195,924
Contributed assets - - 561,465 
Other  2,774,006 1,429,056 1,895,578 
Equity income of  

Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. (note 2) - 1,963,711 1,562,369 
Total revenues  35,872,679 40,040,309 39,080,098 

Expenses 
General government  4,654,969 4,190,201  3,799,652 
Protection services 4,241,380 3,678,135 3,425,375 
Transportation services 8,067,441 7,380,429 7,691,797 
Environmental services 11,274,536 12,116,660 12,027,904 
Health services 451,561 712,007 604,533 
Recreation 3,900,904 5,440,641 5,645,857
Planning and development 2,105,872 1,607,482 1,565,340 

Total expenses   34,696,663 35,125,555 34,760,458 

Annual surplus 1,176,016 4,914,754 4,319,640 

Other comprehensive income of 
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. - (10,782) - 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year  217,589,938 217,589,938 213,270,298 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 218,765,594 $ 222,493,910 $ 217,589,938 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019 

3 

  2020 2019

Annual surplus $ 4,914,754 $ 4,319,640 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets   (11,715,450) (8,731,389) 
Contributed tangible capital assets - (561,465)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 5,926,218 5,804,808
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 62,568 201,133 
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets  125,162  119,433 
Other comprehensive income of 

Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.   (10,782)   - 
Change in inventories and prepaid expenses 49,034 306,407 

  (648,496) 1,458,567

Net financial assets, beginning of year  26,812,231  25,353,664 

Net financial assets, end of year  $ 26,163,735 $ 26,812,231 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019 

4 

2020 2019

Operations 
Annual surplus $  4,914,754 $ 4,319,640  
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 5,926,218 5,804,808 
Contributed assets - (561,465)
Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy net income (1,963,711) (1,562,369)
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 125,162 119,433 

9,002,423 8,120,047 
Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 

Taxes receivable (236,627) (319,343) 
Accounts receivable (571,817) 266,034 
Inventories and prepaid expenses 49,034 306,407 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (181,570) 336,708
Deferred revenue (1,439,911) 1,457,276 
Post-employment benefits 77,992 (27,546) 

Cash from (used in) operations 6,699,524 10,139,583 

Capital  
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets  62,568  201,133 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (11,715,450) (8,731,389) 

Cash used in capital activities (11,652,882) (8,530,256) 

Investing  
Dividend received 694,030 500,000  
Change in debt recoverable from others 4,798 48,630 
Repayment of note receivable 744,940 949,931 

Cash from investing 1,443,768 1,498,561 

Financing 
Long-term debt issued  1,850,810 1,805,324 
Debt principal repayments (554,661) (441,165) 

Cash from financing 1,296,149 1,364,159 

Increase (decrease) in cash (2,213,441) 4,472,047

Cash, beginning of year 22,734,227 18,262,180

Cash, end of year $ 20,520,786 $22,734,227

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2020 

5 

The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the "Town") is a municipality in the Province of 
Ontario that provides municipal services such as fire, public works, planning, parks and recreation, 

library and other general government operations. 

1. Significant accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements of the Town are prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards (“PSAS”) as recommended by the Public Sector

Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada.  Significant accounting policies adopted by the Town
are as follows:

(a) Basis of consolidation:

(i) Consolidated entities:

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the reporting entity. The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations,

committees and local boards accountable for the administration of the Town’s financial
affairs and resources to the Town which are owned or controlled by the Town except for
the Town’s wholly owned government business enterprise, Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy

Inc., which is accounted for on the modified equity basis of accounting as described below.
These reporting entities and organizations include the Public Library Board.
Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these

entities and organizations have been eliminated.

The investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. ("NOTLEI") is accounted for on a
modified equity basis, consistent with the accounting treatment for government business

enterprises. Under the modified equity basis, NOTLEI’s accounting principles are not
adjusted to conform with those of the Town, and inter-organizational transactions and
balances are not eliminated. The Town recognizes its equity interest in the annual income

or loss of NOTLEI in its Consolidated Statement of Operations with a corresponding
increase or decrease in its investment asset account. Any dividends that the Town may
receive from NOTLEI are reflected as reductions in the investment account.

(ii) Partial-consolidated entities:

The Niagara District Airport Commission is operated with a joint local board and is
proportionately consolidated. The Town’s share is 6%.

(iii) Accounting for Region and School Board transactions:

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations
of the school boards and the Regional Municipality of Niagara are not reflected in these

consolidated financial statements.

(iv) Trust funds:

Trust funds and their related operations are not included in these consolidated financial

statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2020 
 

 
 

6 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Basis of accounting: 

The Town follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are 
recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as 

they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation 
of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year, and are not 
intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets 

during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the change in 
net financial assets for the year. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes all directly attributable 
expenditures in the acquisition, construction, development and/or betterment of the asset 
required to prepare the asset for its intended use. 

Amortization is recorded to reflect the cost, net of anticipated residual value, associated 
with the use of the asset in providing government services on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset. Work in progress assets are not amortized until the asset 

is available for productive use, at which time amortization commences. Gains and/or losses 
on the disposal of an asset are recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Operations in 
the year of disposal. 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair market value at 
the date of receipt and are recognized as revenue. Similarly, transfer of assets to third 
parties are removed from tangible capital assets and recorded as an expense equal to the 

net book value of the asset as at the date of the transfer. 

The historical cost of works of art or historical treasures have not been assigned to these 
assets nor disclosed on the consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued): 
 

Asset Class   Useful Life (Years) 
 
General Assets: 

Land improvements  5 to 60 
Buildings and fixtures  5 to 50 
Machinery and equipment  5 to 40 
Information technology  2 to 15 
Vehicles   5 to 20 
Other   5 to 50 
 

Infrastructure: 
Linear   10 to 80 
Street lighting   7 to 60 
Other   7 to 50 

 
 

Interest on debt incurred during construction of related tangible capital assets is expensed 
in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year incurred.  

(ii) Inventories: 

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and 

replacement cost. 

(d)  Deferred revenue: 

Deferred revenue represents licenses, permits, grants and other fees which have been 

collected, but for which the related services or inspections have yet to be performed. These 
amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the services are performed. 

(e)  Government transfers: 

Government transfers received are from federal and provincial governments. Transfers are 
recognized in the period in which the events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the 
transfers are authorized, eligibility criteria are met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts 

can be made except when, and to the extent that, stipulations by the transferor give rise to an 
obligation that meet the definition of a liability. Government transfers that meet the definition of 
a liability are recognized as revenue as the liability is extinguished. Government transfers are 

paid to community organizations. Government transfers paid are recognized as a liability and 
expense when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the 
recipient.   
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f)  Tax revenue: 
 

Taxes receivable and tax revenue are recognized when they meet the definition of an asset, 

the tax is authorized and the taxable event has occurred. 

(g) Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds: 

Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds represents development charge contributions, 

payments in lieu of parking and parkland and gas tax, levied or received under the authority of 
federal and provincial legislation.  These amounts have been collected but the related services 
have yet to be performed.  These amounts will be recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the 

services are performed. 

(h) Investment income: 

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the funding 

government or provincial legislation, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added 
to the fund balance and forms part of the deferred revenue balance. 

(i) Other income: 

Other income is recognized as revenue when the service is performed. 

(j)  Investments: 

Investments are recorded at amortized cost.  Discounts and premiums arising on the purchase 

of these investments are amortized over the term of the investments.  When there has been a 
loss in value that is other than a temporary decline in value, the respective investment is written 
down to recognize the loss. 

(k) Post-employment benefits: 

(i) The Town provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods.  
These benefits include long-term disability, benefits under the Workplace Safety and 

Insurance Board (“WSIB”) Act, and extended health and dental benefits for early retirees. 

The costs of life insurance, benefits under WSIB, life insurance, and extended health and 
dental benefits are actuarially determined using management’s best estimate of salary 

escalation, earned days accumulated for certain employees payable at retirement, health 
care cost trends, long term inflation rates and discount rates. 

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulate over 

the periods of service provided by employees, such as service payments and health and 
dental benefits for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the projected benefits 
method prorated on service.  Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized over the 

expected average service life of the employee group.  Any actuarial gains and losses 
related to the past service of employees are amortized over the expected average 
remaining service life of the employee group. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k)  Post-employment benefits (continued): 

For those self-insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from 
time to time, such as obligations for workers' compensation and disability benefits for those 
on disability leave, the cost is recognized immediately in the period the events occur.  Any 

actuarial gains and losses that are related to these benefits are recognized immediately in 
the period they arise. 

(ii) The costs of multi-employer defined benefit pension plan benefits, such as the Ontario 

Municipal Employees Retirement System ("OMERS") pensions, are the employer's 
contributions due to the plan in the period. OMERS has been accounted for as a defined 
contribution plan since it is a multi-employer plan. 

(l)  Note receivable 

The note receivable is valued at cost. Recoverability is assessed annually and a valuation 
allowance is recorded when recoverability is impaired. The note receivable is written off when 

it is no longer recoverable. Recoveries of note receivable previously written off are recognized 
as revenue in the year received. Interest revenue is recognized as it is earned. Notes receivable 
with significant concessionary terms, (such as non-interest bearing notes) are accounted for 

as a grant and presented as an expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.  

(m)  Use of estimates: 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PSAS requires management to 

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include 

assumptions used in estimation provisions for accrued liabilities and in performing actuarial 
valuations of post-employment benefits liability and the valuation of contributed assets. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

 
  

2020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 81



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2020 
 

 
 

10 
 

2. Long-term investments 

The Town holds an investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. (“NOTLEI”) which is represented 
by 1,001 common shares of the company. NOTLEI is wholly owned by the Town. Summary financial 
information is as follows: 

Financial Position: 
 
  2020  2019 
 
Assets: 

Current $ 6,060,966 $ 5,404,720 
Capital  35,992,586  33,762,453 
Other non-current  7,016,508  6,730,839 
Regulatory balances  1,239,218  1,230,580 

Total assets and regulatory balances $ 50,309,278 $ 47,128,592 
 
Liabilities: 

Current $ 6,590,148 $ 5,391,090 
Notes payable to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  5,929,872  6,674,812 
Long-term debt  6,618,685  5,265,857 
Other  8,536,718  8,169,853 
Regulatory balances  810,324  1,062,348 

Equity  21,823,531 20,564,632 
Total liabilities, regulatory balances and equity $ 50,309,278 $ 47,128,592 

Operations: 

 
  2020  2019 
 
Revenue $ 37,096,467  $ 32,481,247 
Expenses (including income tax provision) (35,393,418) (31,452,316) 
Net movement in regulatory balances (net of tax)  260,662  533,438 
Net income and net movement in regulatory balances  1,963,711  1,562,369 
Other comprehensive loss  (10,782)  - 
Dividend paid to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  (694,030)  (500,000) 
Change in investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 1,258,899 $ 1,062,369 

Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake investment represented by: 
 
  2020  2019 
 
Investment in shares of the Corporation $ 7,054,844 $ 7,054,844 
Accumulated net income, net of dividends received  14,768,687 13,509,788 
Total investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc. $ 21,823,531 $ 20,564,632 
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2. Long-term investments (continued): 

NOTLEI delivered electricity to the Town and related organizations in the amount of $1,012,163 
(2019 - $897,414) and provided locate services to the Town in the amount of $35,215 (2019 - $nil). 

 
3. Note receivable: 

The notes receivable are comprised of the following: 
 
  2020 2019 
 
Note 1 $ 1,548,786 $ 1,739,643 
Note 2  1,348,980  1,664,326 
Note 3  1,062,106  1,240,843 
Note 4  1,970,000  2,030,000 
 
  $ 5,929,872 $ 6,674,812 
 

Note 1 bears interest at 7.25%, is unsecured and is repayable annually in the aggregate principal 

and interest of $250,000 (2019 - $500,000). Note 2 bears interest at 3.50%, is due on February 1, 
2025 and is repayable in blended monthly payments of $29,386. Note 3 bears interest at 3.5%, is 
due on October 1, 2025 and is repayable in blended monthly payments of $19,625. Note 4 bears 

interest at 3.0% and is due on demand. The Town has waived its right to demand payment on notes 
2 to 4 until January 1, 2022. These notes have been postponed in favour of the demand instalment 
loan owing by NOTLEI. The notes are unsecured.  

4. Deferred revenue: 

A requirement of PSAS is that obligatory reserve funds be reported as deferred revenue. These 
reserve funds are considered obligatory as Provincial legislation restricts how these funds may be 
used and, under certain circumstances, when these funds will be refunded. 

In the case of development charges, revenue recognition occurs after the funds have been 
collected and when the Town has approved the eligible expenditures and used the funds for the 
capital project for which the development charges were raised. These funds have been set aside, 

as required by the Development Charges Act, to support the cost of growth related capital projects 
associated with new development. 

  

2020 Annual Report, Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake | 83



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2020 
 

 
 

12 
 

4. Deferred revenue (continued): 

The deferred revenues are made up of the following: 
 
   Externally   
  restricted Revenue  

  2019 inflows earned 2020 
 
Building permit surplus $ 1,241,965 $ -  418,569  823,396 
Canada gas tax  264,410  535,342  368,063  431,689 
Cash-in-lieu of parking  353,331  -  -  353,331 
Development charges  10,427,299  936,533  1,741,623  9,622,209 
Ontario Community Infrastructure Fund -  816,806  645,051  171,755 
Recreational land 536,546  251,412  483,758  304,200 
Main Street revitalization 53,137  1,917  54,286  768 
Provincial Modernization Fund 725,000  -  121,129  603,871 
Other deferred 574,794  189,762  375,213  389,343 
Safe Restart  -  36,009  -  36,009 
  $14,176,482 $ 2,767,781 $ 4,207,692 $ 12,736,571 

5. Post-employment benefits and other liabilities: 

The Town provides certain employees benefits which will require funding in future periods. These 
benefits include sick leave, benefits under the Workplace Safety and Insurance ("WSIB") Act, and 
life insurance, extended health, and dental benefits to early retirees. 
 
  2020 2019 
 
Retiree benefits $ 576,732 $ 569,676 
Accrued vacation pay  401,924  308,065 
Accumulated sick leave  44,520  43,325 
Future payments required to WSIB  202,684  226,802 
 
  $ 1,225,860 $ 1,147,868 
 

Information about the Town’s benefit plans is as follows: 
 
  2020 2019 

Accrued benefit obligation:   
 Balance, beginning of year $ 1,222,647 $ 1,257,510 
 Current benefit cost  102,459  6,004 
 Interest  26,997  27,168 
 Benefits paid  (58,431)  (68,035) 

Balance, end of year  1,293,672  1,222,647 
    
Unamortized actuarial loss  (67,812)  (74,779) 
  
Liability for benefits $ 1,225,860 $ 1,147,868 
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5. Post-employment benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

Amortization of the actuarial loss of $6,967 (2019 - $7,317) has been included in expenses on the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
 
(i) Accumulated Sick Leave 

Under the Town’s sick leave benefit plan, employees can choose either to carry forward up to 

5 unused days to the next year, have all unused credits paid out at the end of the year, or any 
combination of the two choices.  Credits are paid out at 50%.  The accrued benefit obligation 
and the expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 were determined by an actuarial 

valuation.  The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2018 for the December 31, 2017 year-
end. 

(ii) Retiree Benefits 

The Town pays health care, dental, travel and life insurance benefits for early retirees to age 
65. The Town recognizes these post-retirement costs in the period in which the employees 
rendered the services. The accrued benefit liability and the expense for the year ended 

December 31, 2020 were determined by an actuarial valuation and analysis of changes made 
to plans since the last valuation. The last actuarial valuation was performed in 2018 for the 
December 31, 2017 year-end.  

(iii) Accrued WSIB 

The Town has elected to be treated as a Schedule 1 employer for the purposes of WSIB where 
a premium is paid to cover the Town's responsibilities under the Workplace Safety and 

Insurance Board Act ("WSIB"). WSIB has provided the Town an estimate of the value of the 
future benefits for which the Town is responsible. 

(iv) Actuarial Assumptions 

The main actuarial assumptions used for the valuations are as follows: 

Interest (discount rate): 

The accrued benefit obligation was determined using a discount rate of 4% (2019 - 4.0%). 

Inflation: 

Inflation was assumed to be 1.75% (2019 - 1.75%). 

Medical, dental and travel costs: 

Medical, dental and travel costs are assumed to increase at a rate of 6.08% in 2020 per year 
reducing by 0.3333% per year to 3.75% in 2027 and to 3.75% per year thereafter. 

Salary escalations: 

Future salary has been assumed to escalate at a rate of 2.75% per year (2019 - 2.75%). 
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5. Post-employment benefits and other liabilities (continued): 

(v) Pension Agreements 

The Town makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund 
("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit 
plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employees 

based on the length of service and rates of pay. 

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2020 was $809,557 (2019 - $764,601) for current 
service and is included as an expenditure in the consolidated statement of operations. 

Employees' contribution to OMERS in 2020 was $809,557 (2019 - $764,601). 

Contributions for employees with a normal retirement age of 65 were being made at a rate of 
9% for earnings up to the yearly maximum pensionable earnings of $58,700 and at a rate of 

14.6% for earnings greater than the yearly maximum pensionable earnings. 

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit at December 31, 2020 of $3.2 billion (2019 - $3.4 billion) 
based on an actuarial valuation of plan assets. 

6. Net long-term liabilities: 

(a) The balance of net long-term liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of financial 
position is made up of the following: 

 
  2020 2019 
 
The Town has assumed responsibility for the 

payment of principal and interest charges on 
certain long-term liabilities issued by other 
municipalities.  $ 5,091,440 $ 3,795,291 

Of the long-term liabilities shown above, the  
responsibility for payment of principal and interest 
charges for tile drainage, have been assumed 
by individuals. (25,049) (29,847) 

 
Net long-term liabilities, end of year $ 5,066,391 $ 3,765,444 
 

(b) The long-term liabilities in (a) issued in the name of the municipality have been approved by 
by-law. The annual principal and interest payments required to service these liabilities are 
within the annual debt repayment limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 

Housing. 
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6. Net long-term liabilities (continued): 
 

(c) Of the net long-term liabilities reported in (a) of this note, principal payments are as follows: 

 
2021 $ 422,960 
2022 436,535 
2023 390,542 
2024 405,418 
2025 391,751 
Thereafter 3,019,185 
 $ 5,066,391 

(d) Interest charges on long-term debt in the amount of $114,230 (2019 - $83,361) are included 

on the Consolidated Statement of Operations, classified under the appropriate functional 
expense heading. The long-term debt bears interest at rates ranging from 1.35% to 10.45% 
payable semiannually.  The long-term liabilities mature at various times up to 2034. 

 
7. Accumulated surplus: 

  2020 2019 
 
Invested in tangible capital assets $  196,048,540 $ 190,447,038  
Operating fund  (2,764,763)  (1,977,171) 

 
Reserves and reserve funds  13,678,852  13,468,751 
Investment in Niagara-on-the-Lake Energy Inc.  21,823,531  20,564,632 
  228,786,160  222,503,250 
Amounts to be recovered 

Post-employment benefits  (1,225,860)  (1,147,868) 
Net long-term liabilities  (5,066,391)  (3,765,444) 

  (6,292,251)  (4,913,312) 
 $ 222,493,909 $ 217,589,938 
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7. Accumulated surplus (continued): 
 
Reserve and reserve balances: 
 
  2020 2019 

 
Reserves set aside by Council for specific purposes: 

Base mapping $  700 $ 700 
Bridges and culverts 31,020 31,020 
Building vehicle and equipment 51,643 42,643 
By-law vehicle and equipment 46,221 32,096 
Capital levy 1,915,655 1,837,720 
Community centre 13,591 7,654 
Contingencies 130,099 325,786 
Corporate studies 143,249 202,692 
COVID 19 129,841 - 
Debt reduction 34,191 - 
Dock area improvement  171,026  186,942 
Donations  404,695 146,670 
Election expenses 36,059 16,059 
Fleet replacement 96,182 267,943 
Grant and other (94,161) 40,168 
Irrigation 460,170 521,750 
Ontario disabilities 156,813 135,213 
OMB appeals 155,731 155,731 
Parking revenue 1,071,014 1,266,096 
Sidewalk improvements 31,694 (8,118) 
Storm water management (66,768) (52,797) 
Street lighting 27,633 33,551 
Tax rate stabilization 52,500 - 
Training and development 11,857 11,857 
Wastewater capital improvements 2,635,574 2,172,994 
Wastewater rate stabilization 228,428 228,428 
Water capital improvements 5,295,116 5,468,382 
Water rate stabilization 194,486 194,486 
Winter maintenance 85,192 85,192 
Working funds 50,000 50,000 
Total reserves $ 13,499,451 $ 13,400,858 

 
Reserve funds set aside by Council for specific purposes: 

Bequest/Garden  4,498   4,422 
Library development and computer 24,257 (5,897) 
Library donations 20,757 12,757 
Library stabilization 73,278 - 
Recreation enhancement 56,611 56,611 
 179,401 67,893 

Total reserves and reserve funds $ 13,678,852 $ 13,468,751 
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8. Commitments: 

(a) Capital expenditures 

The estimated future capital expenditures based on projects in progress at December 31, 2020 
is approximately $6,161,591 (2019 - $5,785,648) after deducting the expenditures incurred as 
at December 31, 2020.  These projects will be financed by grants, subsidies and long-term 

liabilities in future years. 

(b) Niagara Health System 

 The Town is currently committed to funding $3,500,000 of the local share of the construction 

costs of the Niagara Health System (“NHS”) hospital located in St. Catharines.  The Town has 
approved a plan to fund this commitment through annual tax levies in the years 2011 to 2031.  
The plan is dependent upon future councils approving this levy on an annual basis.  A balance 

of $1,318,092 is owing on this commitment at December 31, 2020 (2019 - $1,606,042) 

9.  Contingent liabilities: 

From time to time, the Town is subject to claims and other lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course 

of business, some of which may seek damages in substantial amounts, including punitive or 
extraordinary damages.  In respect of most outstanding claims, the Town believes that insurance 
coverage is adequate and that no material exposure exists on the eventual outcome of such 

litigation, therefore no provision has been made in the accompanying financial statements. The 
Town is currently named as a defendant in two matters related to former employees for which 
damages are unknown at this time. There may be exposure that exceeds the Town’s insurance 

coverage. As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, the ultimate outcome is not 
yet known and the amount cannot be reasonably estimate.  

10. Contributions to Joint Board: 

The following contributions were made by the Town to: 

   2020 2019 

Niagara District Airport Commission $ 53,766 $ 56,179 

The Town’s share of the net assets of the Niagara District Airport Commission is approximately 
6%.  
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11. Segmented reporting: 

The Town is a lower tier municipal government that provides a wide range of services to its citizens.  

Segmented information has been identified based on functional classification as categorized by the 
Financial Information Return. These classifications are as follows: 

(i) General Government:   

The mandate of this functional area is to provide political governance, administrative executive 
management and those expenses and revenues which are corporate in nature and cannot be 
easily apportioned to other departments. Reported in this functional area are departments such 

as Council, Clerks, CAO, Finance, Human Resources, Legal, Information Systems and Capital 
Assets. 

(ii) Protection services: 

Reported in this functional area are Fire and Building Services. The mandate of Fire Services 
is to provide emergency services through a range of services to protect the lives and property 
of the inhabitants of the Town. The mandate of Building Services is to inform and assist 

customers to ensure safe and orderly development and provide efficient delivery of building 
approvals, inspections and management systems. 

(iii) Transportation services: 

Reported in this functional area are Roads and Works. The mandate for Roads and Works is 
to provide quality road and traffic maintenance and operations to the residents and businesses 
of the Town. This area is also responsible for winter control. 

(iv) Environment services: 

Reported in this functional area are Sanitary, Storm and Water Systems. The mandate is to 
provide a safe and reliable water resource system and is responsible for the maintenance and 

operation of the systems and monitoring and administering environmental programs. 

(v) Health services: 

Reported in this functional area is Cemetery Services.  The mandate is to ensure the benefit 

and protection of each citizen who has purchased or has an interest in internment rights within 
each cemetery. Also included here is the Town’s commitment to the Niagara Health System 
hospital.  

(vi) Recreation: 

Reported in the functional area are Parks, Recreation and Culture.  The Parks department is 
responsible for the maintenance, improvement and beautification of various parks as well as 

the planning and construction of new parkland and open space.  The Recreation and Culture 
departments are responsible for the delivery of various related programs and the provision of 
facilities as well as the support of groups and organizations throughout the Town. 
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11. Segmented reporting (continued): 

(vii) Planning and Development: 

Reported in this functional area are Planning and Development.  Planning creates the policy 
framework and implementation tools required to shape the future of the Town.  Development 
is responsible for ensuring that the Town’s land development standards are achieved on all 

development applications. 

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly 
attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis. Tax revenue is 

allocated to the segments based on budgeted expenditures. For grants received, the allocation is 
based on the purpose of the grant. For user fees and charges, the allocation is based on the 
nature of the user fee generated. The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent 

with those followed in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
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2020        

 
General 

Government 

 

Protection 

 

Transportation 

 

Environment 

 

Health 

 

Recreation 

Planning and 

Development 

 

Total 

Revenues:         

Taxation $  4,499,376 $  1,876,892 $  3,681,278 $  - $  117,340 $  3,610,401 $  547,958 $  14,333,245 

User fees and charges 226,558 758,922 1,514,579 11,397,896 261,202 169,945 609,452 14,938,554 

Government grants 1,466,453 25,114 1,215,878 273,988 - 61,418 (2,972) 3,039,879 

Other 1,968,851 453,257 527,173 857,809 - 1,957,830 - 5,764,920 

Contributed assets - - - - - - - - 

Equity income in NOTLEI Inc. 1,963,711 - - - - - - 1,963,711 

Total revenues 10,124,949 3,114,185 6,938,908 12,529,693 378,542 5,799,594 1,154,438 40,040,309 

Expenses:         

Salaries and wages 3,001,693 2,043,728 2,221,313 1,212,548 183,489 2,431,271 1,078,639 12,172,681 

Operating materials and supplies 1,097,857 520,657 1,240,787 434,526 179,664 1,343,956 113,771 4,931,218 

Contracted services 1,583,957 119,233 1,626,519 6,991,042 550 114,630 152,489 10,588,420 

Rents and financial expenses 346,229 - - 3,342 - 7,461 - 357,032 

Interfunctional transfers (2,863,718) 429,037 475,750 1,227,292 37,916 514,937 178,786 - 

Amortization 337,514 565,480 1,797,186 2,228,327 22,438 967,225 8,048 5,926,218 

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets 125,162 - - - - - - 125,162 

External transfers 534,801 - - - 287,950 - 26,057 848,808 

Debt service 26,706 - 18,874 19,583 - 61,161 49,692 176,016 

Total expenses 4,190,201 3,678,135 7,380,429 12,116,660 712,007 5,440,641 1,607,482 35,125,555 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  5,923,748 $  (563,950) $  (441,521) $  413,033 $  (333,465) $  358,953 $  (453,044) $  4,914,754 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2020  
 
 
11. Segmented reporting (continued): 
 

2019         

 
General 

Government 

 

Protection 

 

Transportation 

 

Environment 

 

Health 

 

Recreation 

Planning and 

Development 

 

Total 

Revenues:         

Taxation $  3,821,154 $  1,676,187 $  3,557,987 $  - $  100,985 $  3,452,994 $  566,645 $  13,175,952 

User fees and charges 183,658 732,855 2,342,068 11,217,252 281,935 355,093 483,107 15,595,968 

Government grants 427,365 94,726 2,126,450 93,938 - 72,761 43,079 2,858,319 

Other 1,858,363 851,530 918,469 116,816 - 1,580,847 - 5,326,025 

Contributed assets 561,465 - - - - - - 561,465 

Government business enterprise 1,562,369 - - - - - - 1,562,369 

Total revenues 8,414,374 3,355,298 8,944,974 11,428,006 382,920 5,461,695 1,092,831 39,080,098 

Expenses:         

Salaries and wages 3,207,614 1,884,704 2,278,438 1,168,065 151,137 2,561,934 1,064,708 12,316,600 

Operating materials and supplies 649,024 507,697 1,128,369 773,963 115,267 1,446,095 134,176 4,754,591 

Contracted services 1,213,619 108,833 2,042,435 6,640,398 440 88,660 153,770 10,248,155 

Rents and financial expenses 231,287 - - 10,354 - 8,738 - 250,379 

Interfunctional transfers (2,778,614) 399,187 500,278 1,194,172 27,614 521,010 136,353 - 

Amortization 363,668 524,954 1,721,342 2,208,212 22,125 956,459 8,048 5,804,808 

Loss on sale of tangible capital assets 119,433 - - - - - - 119,433 

External transfers 765,737 - - - 287,950 1,800 66,158 1,121,645 

Debt service 27,884 - 20,935 32,740 - 61,161 2,127 144,847 

Total expenses 3,799,652 3,425,375 7,691,797 12,027,904 604,533 5,645,857 1,565,340 34,760,458 

Annual surplus (deficit) $  4,614,722 $  (70,077) $  1,253,177 $  (599,898) $  (221,613) $  (184,162) $  (472,509) $  4,319,640 
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12. Budget data: 

The audited budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based upon the 
2020 operating and capital budgets approved by Council. The chart below reconciles the approved 

budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated financial statements. Budgets 
established for tangible capital asset acquisitions are on a project-oriented basis, the costs of which 
may be carried out over one or more years. Where amounts were budgeted for on a project-oriented 

basis, the actual amounts for 2020 were used in order to adjust the budget numbers to reflect the 
same basis of accounting that was used to report the actual results. In addition, to ensure 
comparability of expenses, the allocation of program support costs completed for actual reporting 

was also applied to the budget amounts. 

The chart below reconciles the approved budget figures reported on the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations. 

  Budget Amount 

Revenue: 
Operating budget as approved    $ 37,669,104  

Add: 
Development charges  1,741,623 
Building Code Act  539,698 
Recreational Land (the Planning Act)  483,758 

Less:    
Transfers from other funds  (3,674,528) 
Principal and dividends from NOTLEI  (886,976) 

Total revenue   35,872,679 

Expenses: 
Operating budget as approved  37,669,104  

Add: 
Amortization     5,926,218 
Employee future benefits  77,991 
Capital projects resulting in operating expenses  193,120 
Loss on Disposal of TCA  125,162 

Less:   
Transfer to reserves, including capital  (8,685,234) 
Debt principal payments  (609,698) 
 

Total expenses   34,696,663 

Annual surplus   $ 1,176,016 
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13.  Tangible capital assets: 
 

(a)  Work in progress: 

Work in progress having a value of $8,900,354 (2019 - $7,471,124) is not depreciated.  
Depreciation of these assets commence when the assets are placed in service. No interest 

was capitalized during the period. 

(b)  Contributed capital assets: 

Contributed capital assets are recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution. The 

value of contributed assets during the year is $nil (2019 - $561,465). In 2019, parcels of land 
were transferred to the Town which service various developments.  The lands contributed 
provide servicing for storm sewer systems, walkways and trails, and parkland. 

(c)  Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values: 

Where an estimate of fair market value could not be made for a tangible capital asset, the asset 
was recognized at a nominal value. Nominal values totaling $nil (2019 - $nil) have been 

assigned to Buildings, Land, Machinery and Equipment, Land Improvements, and Linear Asset 
categories. 

(d)  Works of art and historical treasures: 

No works of art or historical treasures are held by the Town. 
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13. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

 
 
2020 
General 

 
Opening 

NBV 

 
Opening 

Cost 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Disposals 

 
Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Amortization 

 
 

Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Total 

Land $6,845,841 $6,845,841 $            - $            -   $6,845,841 $            -   $            -   $            -   $            -   $6,845,841 

Land improvements  4,736,429 7,100,653 447,629 55,431 7,492,851 2,364,224 258,569 34,674 2,588,119 4,904,732 

Buildings and fixtures 17,749,533 28,930,914 148,910 - 29,079,824 11,181,381 761,173 - 11,942,554 17,137,270 

Machinery and equipment 5,102,337 8,322,604 233,852 58,051 8,498,405 3,220,267 482,154 49,861 3,652,560 4,845,845 

Vehicles 4,189,834 8,977,494 1,987,031 608,009 10,356,516 4,787,660 579,094 535,573 4,831,181 5,525,335 

Information technology 492,369 1,779,425 112,318 63,567 1,828,176 1,287,056 167,690 60,416 1,394,330 433,846 

Exterior lighting 1,895,151 3,458,706 197,481 60,146 3,596,041 1,563,555 165,575 53,949 1,675,181 1,920,860 

Subtotal:  General assets 41,011,494 65,415,637 3,127,221 845,204 67,697,654 24,404,143 2,414,255 734,473 26,083,925 41,613,729 

Infrastructure           

Linear assets  137,875,775 195,822,765 5,881,287 323,021 201,381,031 57,946,990 3,340,897 246,022 61,041,865 140,339,156 

Streetlighting 1,526,796 2,520,548 1,055,943 - 3,576,491 993,752 86,121 - 1,079,873 2,496,618 

Other 2,561,849 3,999,163 221,769 - 4,220,932 1,437,314 84,945 - 1,522,259 2,698,673 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets  141,964,420 202,342,476 7,158,999 323,021 209,178,454 60,378,056 3,511,963 246,022 63,643,997 145,534,457 

Work in progress           

Opening balance 7,471,124 7,471,124 11,715,449 - 19,186,573 - - - - 19,186,573 

Internally transferred      (10,286,219) - (10,286,219)   - - - - (10,286,219) 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 7,471,124 7,471,124 1,429,230 - 8,900,354     8,900,354 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2020 

$190,447,038 $275,229,237  $11,715,450 $1,168,225 285,776,462 $84,782,199  $5,926,218 $980,495 $89,727,922  $196,048,540 
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13. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

 
 
2019 
General 

 
Opening 

NBV 

 
Opening 

Cost 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Disposals 

 
Closing 
Balance 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Amortization 

 
 

Deletions 

Closing 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

 
 

Total 

Land $6,284,376 $6,284,376 $561,465  $            -  $6,845,841 $               -   $               -   $              -   $               -   $6,845,841 

Land improvements  4,502,200 6,620,577 486,577 6,501 7,100,653 2,118,377 252,348 6,501 2,364,244 4,736,429 

Buildings and fixtures 18,387,072 28,812,142 118,772 - 28,930,914 10,425,070 756,311 - 11,181,381 17,749,533 

Machinery and equipment 5,019,440 7,796,346 558,874 32,616 8,322,604 2,776,906 470,227 26,866 3,220,267 5,102,337 

Vehicles 3,973,660 8,558,589 889,546 470,641 8,977,494 4,584,929 559,431 356,700 4,787,660 4,189,834 

Information technology 562,384 1,753,731 126,087 100,393 1,779,425 1,191,347 196,102 100,393 1,287,056 492,369 

Exterior lighting 1,901,738 3,330,540 168,166 40,000 3,458,706 1,428,802 174,753 40,000 1,563,555 1,895,151 

Subtotal:  General assets 40,630,870 63,156,301 2,909,487 650,151 65,415,637 22,525,431 2,409,172 530,460 24,404,143 41,011,494 

Infrastructure           

Linear assets  137,282,951 192,206,149 4,032,287 415,671 195,822,765 54,923,198 3,240,622 216,830 57,946,990 137,875,775 

Streetlighting 1,572,045 2,494,873 27,711 2,036 2,520,548 922,828 70,924 - 993,752 1,526,796 

Other 2,646,681 4,087,214 - 88,051 3,999,163 1,440,533 84,090 87,309 1,437,314 2,561,849 

Subtotal:  Infrastructure assets  141,501,677 198,788,236 4,059,998 505,758 202,342,476 57,286,559 3,395,636 304,139 60,378,056 141,964,420 

Work in progress           

Opening balance 5,147,011 5,147,011 9,292,853 (744) 14,440,608 - - - - 14,440,608 

Internally transferred - - (6,969,484) - (6,969,484) - - - - (6,969,484) 

Subtotal:  Work in progress 5,147,011 5,147,011 2,323,369 (744) 7,471,124 - - - - 7,471,124 

Grand total as at December 31, 
2019 

$187,279,558 $267,091,548  $9,292,854 $1,155,165 $275,229,237  $79,811,990  $5,804,808 $834,599 $84,782,199  $190,447,038 
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14. Government transfers: 

Government transfers do not include payments in lieu of taxes received from Federal and Provincial 
governments.  These amounts are included with taxation revenue on the Consolidated Statement 

of Operations: 
 
  Budget 2020 2019 
 
Operating transfers: 

Federal $ 8,000 $ 56,009 $ 95,293 
Provincial 579,921  1,743,696  653,669 
Upper-Tier/Other Municipalities 45,000  227,060  239,105 
 632,921  2,026,765  988,067 

 
Capital transfers: 

Federal 531,220  368,063  951,688 
Provincial 815,415  645,051  918,564 

  1,346,635  1,013,114  1,870,252 
 

Total transfers $ 1,979,556 $ 3,039,879 $ 2,858,319 

 

Government transfers paid are included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and are 
summarized in Note 11 - Segmented Information under External Transfers. 

15. Trust funds: 

Trust funds administered by the Town amounting to $1,164,356 (2019 - $1,116,044) have not been 
included in these Consolidated financial statements. 
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16. Impact of COVID-19 

On March 11, 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organization. This has resulted in governments worldwide, including the Canadian, Ontario and 
municipal governments, enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. These 
measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods and 
social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally and in Ontario resulting 
in an economic slowdown. Governments and central banks have reacted with significant monetary 
and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions however the success of these 
interventions is not currently determinable. The current challenging economic climate may lead to 
adverse changes in cash flows and working capital levels due to changes in patient volumes, which 
may also have a direct impact on the Town’s operating results and financial position in the future. 

 

At the date of the audit report, The Town of Niagara-on-the Lake experienced the following 
operating and financial implications in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic: 
 

o Closure of parks and recreation facilities and administrative buildings throughout the year 
based on public health recommendations  

o Temporary termination of employees in non-essential services 

o Suspension of penalties and interest on overdue amounts 

o Mandatory working from home requirements for those able to do so 

 

In response to the COVID-19 pressures, the Town obtained a $10 million line of credit which bears 
interest at prime minus 0.75% per annum. No amounts were drawn on this line at December 31, 
2020. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Town recognized $919,154 of one-time funding 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Town has also deferred $137,856 received in relation 
to COVID-19 funding for use on Community development expenses relating to COVID-19 and 
transit expenditures in future periods. As of the approval date of these financial statements, the 
outcome and timeframe to a full recovery from the current pandemic is undeterminable and it is not 
practicable to estimate and disclose the financial effect on future operations. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Schedule of Library Fund Activities  
(Unaudited) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019 
 
  Budget 2020 2019 

 
Revenues: 

Development charges $ - $ 14,524 $ 27,406 
Municipal grant 750,796 750,796 717,459 
Donations 2,000 5,714 3,960 
Provincial grants 41,276 35,476 59,488 
Miscellaneous 31,200 35,905 37,585 
Other grants 8,000 17,648 12,274 
 833,272 860,063 858,172 

 
Expenditures: 

Amortization 123,887 123,887 125,100 
Building maintenance 4,500  1,208   
Insurance 7,077  6,923  6,740 
Licensing and computer support 23,500 14,859 22,108 
Memberships 1,500 1,401 2,002 
General library expenses 19,000 14,518 22,958 
Office supplies 40,500 56,657 55,732 
Professional development 5,500 4,004 3,717 
Professional fees 3,000 839 1,520 
Program expenditures 11,000 5,162 18,894 
Public relations 1,500 959 1,469 
Rent 60,000 60,000 60,000 
Telephone 1,800 3,218 3,177 
Wage and benefits 647,295 572,582 644,502 
Workshops  3,000 1,406 1,534 
 953,059 867,623 969,453 

Annual deficit (119,787) (7,560) (111,281) 
Add:  Amortization of tangible capital assets - 123,887 125,100 
Less:  Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (38,478) (53,084) 

Transfers to reserve fund 18,500 116,204 5,041 
Adjusted annual surplus (deficit) $ (101,287) $ 194,053 $ (34,224) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of The Corporation of The 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the trust funds of The Corporation of the 
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake (the “Entity”), which comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020,
• the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended,
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
• and notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2020, and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion.  Our conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.   

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

St. Catharines, Canada 
July 26, 2020
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Financial Position – Trust Funds 
 
As at December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care & Preneeds 2020 2019 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
Financial Assets 
 Cash   $ 1,047,308 $ 130,333 $1,177,641 $ 1,140,336 

Liabilities 
 Due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake   

(note 2)  11,583  1,702  13,285  24,292 
Net financial assets and accumulated surplus $ 1,035,725 $ 128,631 $1,164,356 $ 1,116,044 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus – Trust Funds 
 
Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019 
 
  Cemetery Cemetery 
    Care &  Preneeds 2020 2019 
   Maintenance Internments Total Total 
 
 
Revenues: 
 Care & maintenance agreements $ 52,393 $ - $ 52,393 $ 35,582 
 Interest earned  10,835  1,502  12,337  25,398 
   63,228  1,502  64,730  60,980 
 
Expenditures:  
 Interest transferred   10,835  -  10,835  22,041 
 Cemetery preneeds  -  5,583  5,583  21,625 
   10,835  5,583  16,418  43,666 
 
Annual surplus (deficit)   52,393  (4,081)  48,312  17,314 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year  983,332  132,712  1,116,044  1,098,730 
 
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 1,035,725 $ 128,631 $ 1,164,356 $ 1,116,044 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Statement of Cash Flows – Trust Funds 

Year ended December 31, 2020 with comparative information for 2019 

2020 2019

Operations: 
Annual surplus $ 48,312 $ 17,314 

Sources (Uses): 
Change in due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake  (11,007)  7,315

Increase in cash 37,305 24,629 

Cash, beginning of year 1,140,336 1,115,707 

Cash, end of year $ 1,177,641 $ 1,140,336 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 
Notes to Trust Funds Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2020 

1. Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements of The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake trust funds are
prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
(“PSAS”) established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of CPA Canada.

(a) Basis of accounting:

(i) Receipts and expenditures are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.

(ii) The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues as they become available and
measurable; expenditures are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result
of the receipt of goods and services and the creation of a legal obligation to pay.

2. Due to Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake:

The amounts owing to The Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake are non-interest bearing
with no fixed terms of repayment.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 
General Statistics

Households 7,153 7,026 7,069 6,919 7,090 

Population 17,511 17,511 17,511 17,511 17,511 

Municipal Workforce Profile
Full-time Positions 96 97 96 93 88 
Contract Employees 20 26 107 86 77 

Number of Lane Kilometres in Road System 481 477 475 475 472 

Total Hectares in the Town 13,283 13,283 13,283 13283 13,283 

Number of Building Permits Issued 431 402 530 568 616 

Total Value of Building Permits Issued 106,208,050           120,645,688               96,640,209 $133,955,727 $101,199,425
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016                                  
Taxation Statistics

Taxable Assessment
Residential 4,213,806,966        3,961,385,384            3,719,402,387                            3,442,759,833                                    3,241,162,167                   
Multi-Residential 14,834,100              14,470,825                  16,526,990                                15,947,775                                         15,706,000                        
Commercial 793,101,106           760,302,064               699,819,604                              652,795,316                                       611,146,767                      
Industrial 53,950,700              47,553,372                  45,697,981                                42,496,131                                         39,659,308                        
Farmland 524,802,139           494,516,457               445,463,201                              401,259,800                                       333,741,525                      
Pipeline 18,559,000              17,983,879                  17,390,000                                16,777,750                                         16,111,000                        
Managed Forests 1,402,100                1,232,094                    797,000                                     666,225                                              541,800                             

5,620,456,111        5,297,444,075           4,945,097,163                            4,572,702,830                                    4,258,068,567                   

Tax Levy
Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 13,695,648              12,545,156                  11,784,195.00                               11,179,872                                         10,668,156                        
Niagara Region 36,349,290              33,735,634                  31,575,471.00                               30,144,564                                         28,840,572                        
Education 15,220,263              15,144,905                  14,734,824.00                               14,371,523                                         14,168,239                        

65,265,201             61,425,695                58,094,490                                55,695,959                                         53,676,967                        

Current Year's Tax Collections 62,903,537              58,594,183                  56,520,320.00                               53,796,498                                         51,332,868                        

Current Year's Tax Collections as a 
Percentage of Current Tax Levy 96.4% 95.4% 97.3% 96.6% 95.6%

Total Tax Arrears 2,560,150                2,323,523                    2,004,180                                       1,659,040                                           1,645,837                          

Total Tax Arrears as a Percentage of
Current Tax Levy 3.9% 3.8% 3.4% 3.0% 3.1%

Top Ten Largest Corporate Property Taxpayers in 2020

Owner Owner ID Taxes Paid Name Assessment Value $
The Outlet Collection (Niagara THEOU00001 5,634,004.69                                 The Outlet Collection (Niagara) 238,294,000                      
Lais Hotel Properties Limited LAISH00001 2,232,915.10                                 Lais Hotel Properties Limited 94,854,000                           
White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated WHITE00019 437,350.89                                     White Oaks Tennis World Incorporated 18,339,000                        
Niagara Falls Bridge Commission NIAGA00001 434,347.75                                     Niagara Falls Bridge Commission 31,357,000                        
Niagara York Road Inc NIAGA00049 396,636.62                                     Niagara York Road Inc 16,624,000                        
Celca Holdings Limited CELCA00001 328,263.17                                     Celca Holdings Limited 15,377,000                        
Pleasant Manor Retirement Village PLEAS00002 273,069.57                                     Pleasant Manor Retirement Village 19,874,000                        
Andrew Peller Limited/Andrew Peller Limitee ANDRE00073 285,595.63                                     Xinjiade Canada Inc 11,299,000                        
Xinjiade Canada Inc XINJI00001 248,580.85                                     Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. 10,420,000                        
Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. ENBRI00001 239,635.10                                     Finer Space Trust Inc 10,166,000                        
Top Ten Assessment Total 466,604,000                      

% of Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment 53.9%
% of Total Taxable Assessment 8.3%

Total Residential Assessment 4,754,845,305                   
Total Industrial and Commercial Assessment 865,610,806                      

Total Taxable Assessment 5,620,456,111                   
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016                                  
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Financial Assets
Cash 20,520,786              22,734,227                  18,262,180                                     20,043,087                                         20,000,557
Short-term investments 43,026                                             42,640                                                
Taxes receivable 2,560,150                2,323,523                    2,004,180                                       1,659,040                                           1,645,837
Accounts receivable 5,135,172                4,563,355                    4,829,389                                       4,787,721                                           3,138,727
Debt recoverable from others 25,049                      29,847                          35,451                                             40,737                                                51,596
Note receivable 5,930,737                6,674,797                    7,624,743                                       8,478,901                                           9,306,723
Long-term investment 21,823,531              20,564,632                  19,502,263                                     18,755,744                                         17,699,729

Total financial assets 55,995,425             56,890,381                52,301,232                                53,807,870 51,843,169

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,777,820              10,958,508                  10,621,816                                     9,140,858                                           8,110,182
Lease purchase agreements -                                                     -                                    
Deferred revenue 12,736,571              14,176,482                  12,719,206                                     12,594,905                                         11,975,057
Post-employment benefits 1,225,860                1,147,869                    1,175,414                                       1,116,462                                           1,121,146
Net long-term liabilities 5,091,440                3,795,291                    2,431,132                                       3,047,855                                           3,649,106

Total financial liabilities 29,831,691             30,078,150                26,947,568                                25,900,080                                         24,855,490

Net financial assets (net debt) 26,163,734             26,812,231                25,353,664                                27,907,790 26,987,679

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets 196,048,540           190,447,038               187,279,558                                  178,633,477                                       174,424,724
Inventories and prepaid 281,635                    330,669                        637,076                                          519,503                                              395,973

Total non-financial assets 196,330,175           190,777,707              187,916,634                              179,152,980                                       174,820,697

Accumulated surplus 222,493,909           217,589,938              213,270,298                              207,060,769 201,808,375
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016                                  
Statement of Financial Position Statistics

Tangible Capital Asset Additions 11,715,449              8,731,431                    14,258,141                                     9,716,547                                           6,894,243

Net Long-term Liabilities 5,091,440                3,795,291                    2,431,132                                       3,047,855                                           3,649,106
Per Capita 291                        217                            139                                            $174.05 $208.39
Percentage of Tax Levy 0                            0                                0                                                5.47% 6.80%

Gross Debt
Supported by Taxes 4,662,407                3,036,991                    1,145,760                                       1,245,520                                           1,343,840
Supported by Non-tax Revenue 429,033                    758,300                        1,285,372                                       1,802,335                                           2,305,266
Net Long-term Liabilities 5,091,440              3,795,291                  2,431,132                                  3,047,855 3,649,106

Debt Charges for the Year
Principal Payments 549,863                    435,561                        611,437                                          590,393                                              569,978
Interest Charges 174,225                    142,720                        120,098                                          128,393                                              149,305

Annual Debt Repayment Limit 7,292,149                7,738,195                    7,250,631                                       6,990,743                                           5,925,006

Accumulated Surplus 222,493,909           217,589,938               213,270,298                                  207,060,769                                       201,808,375
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE
STATISTICAL REVIEW
(Unaudited)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016                                  
Consolidated Statement of Operations

Revenue by Source
Taxation 14,333,244              13,175,953                  12,410,221                                     11,786,633                                         11,338,711
User fees and charges 14,938,554              15,595,968                  15,129,117                                     14,114,544                                         12,746,106
Government of Canada 424,072                    1,046,981                    1,695,817                                       1,345,431                                           474,196
Province of Ontario 2,509,876                1,572,233                    1,547,102                                       1,478,502                                           896,734
Other municipal funding 227,060                    239,105                        196,255                                          153,909                                              188,485
Development levies earned 2,698,236                2,181,272                    2,324,739                                       1,795,008                                           1,997,029
Interest and penalties 485,387                    378,359                        342,024                                          323,552                                              376,336
Investment income 479,242                    674,892                        638,260                                          556,820                                              531,874
Donations 551,871                    195,924                        372,120                                          419,093                                              197,592
Miscellaneous income/other 1,429,056                2,457,043                    2,259,251                                       1,617,605                                           2,067,104
NOTLEI net income 1,963,711                1,562,369                    1,246,519                                       1,663,472                                           1,010,879

Total revenue by source 40,040,309             39,080,099                38,161,425                                35,254,569 31,825,046

Expense by Function 
General Government 4,190,201                3,799,653                    2,409,148                                       2,375,773                                           2,512,972
Protection 3,678,135                3,425,375                    3,345,149                                       3,021,714                                           2,717,109
Transportation 7,380,431                7,691,797                    7,349,169                                       6,765,464                                           6,154,940
Environment 12,116,660              12,027,904                  10,696,416                                     9,856,149                                           9,716,949
Health 712,007                    604,533                        644,510                                          564,610                                              539,679
Recreation 5,440,640                5,645,857                    5,403,102                                       5,542,527                                           4,734,811
Planning and Development 1,607,482                1,565,340                    2,104,402                                       1,768,481                                           1,471,811

Total expenses by function 35,125,556             34,760,459                31,951,896                                29,894,718                                         27,848,271

Annual Surplus 4,914,753                4,319,640                    6,209,529                                       5,359,851                                           3,976,775
Other Comprehensive Income NOTLEI 10,782-                      (107,457)                                             
Accumulated surplus, beginning 217,589,938           213,270,298               207,060,769                                  201,808,375                                       197,831,600
Accumulated surplus, ending 222,493,909           217,589,938              213,270,298                              207,060,769                                       201,808,375

Analysis of Expenses by Object
Salaries and wages 12,172,682              12,316,600                  11,485,577                                     10,132,563                                         9,979,539
Operating materials and supplies 4,931,218                4,754,592                    4,455,206                                       3,958,395                                           4,289,480
Contracted services 10,588,420              10,248,155                  9,310,104                                       9,022,565                                           7,295,951
Rents and financial expenses 482,194                    369,812                        172,973                                          503,821                                              286,457
External transfers 848,808                    1,121,645                    784,358                                          819,792                                              700,995
Amortization 5,926,218                5,804,808                    5,621,136                                       5,326,092                                           5,142,525
Loss on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets -                                                   -                                    
Debt service 176,016                    144,847                        122,542                                          131,490                                              153,324

Total expenses by object 35,125,556             34,760,459                31,951,896                                29,894,718 27,848,271
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